
 

 

City of Woodland Park 
City Council 

 
July 17, 2025 at 6:30 PM 

 
 

 

City of Woodland Park  City Council - July 17, 2025 
 

AGENDA 
 
1. CALL TO ORDER AND ROLL CALL 
2. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
3. CEREMONIES, PRESENTATIONS AND APPOINTMENTS 
  A. Acknowledgment and Appreciation of Team Rubicon for Fire Mitigation at the 

Avenger Open Space. 
(Presenters Parks and Recreation Director Keating and Budget Director 
Burleson) 

  B. Appointments to the Utility Advisory Committee. (A) 
(Presenter Deputy City Manager/City Clerk Leclercq) 

  C. Appointment to the Downtown Development Authority. (A) 
(Presenter Deputy City Manager/City Clerk Leclercq) 

  D. Proclamation declaring July as Parks and Recreation Month. (A) 
(Parks and Recreation Director Keating) 

4. ADDITIONS, DELETIONS OR CORRECTIONS TO AGENDA 
5. CONSENT CALENDAR 
  A. Review and Acceptance of the Statement of Expenditures for June 2025. (A) 

(Presenter City Manager Vassalotti) 
  B. Approval of the June 19, 2025 Regularly Scheduled City Council Meeting. (A) 

(Presenter Deputy City Manager/City Clerk Leclercq) 
6. PUBLIC COMMENT ON ITEMS NOT ON THE AGENDA (1) 
7. UNFINISHED BUSINESS 
  (Public Comment may be heard) 
8. ORDINANCES ON INITIAL POSTING 
  (Public comment may be heard) 
9. PUBLIC HEARINGS 
  (Public comment may be heard)  
  A. Approval of Ordinance No. 1498, Series 2025, an Ordinance Granting a Special 

Use Permit for the Purpose of CORE Electric Cooperative to Replace an Existing 
63-foot Lattice Communication Tower with a New 120-foot Lattice 
Communication Tower (130 Feet to Top of Appurtenances). The Subject 
Property is Located in the SE4SE4 Sec. 23 and that Portion of the E2NE4 Sec. 
26 Lying North of Highway 24 in T12S, R69W of the 6th P.M., (5955 Trout Creek 

Page 1 of 60



 

City of Woodland Park  City Council - July 17, 2025 
 

Road, Woodland Park, CO) in the Agricultural (AG) Zone. (QJ) (Presenter Senior 
Planner, CJ Gates) 

10. NEW BUSINESS 
  (Public comment may be heard) 
  A. Approve a Rock, Gem & Jewelry Show Temporary Use Permit (TUP) - a request 

from Kim Packham (Applicant) and Peter LaBarre (property owner) for on-site 
vendor camping August 11-18, 2025 for the Woodland Park Rock, Gem and 
Jewelry Show special event at 19250 E US Hwy 24 in the Service Commercial 
(SC) zone district. (QJ) (Presenter: Permit Technician, Grant Ahtye) 

  B. Approve Resolution No. 932 a Resolution Establishing Expedited Review 
Policies for Future Affordable Housing Projects. (Presenter Budget Director / 
Kimberly Burleson) 

11. REPORTS 
  (Public comment not necessary) 
  A. Mayor’s Report 
  B. Council Reports 
  C. City Attorney’s Report 
  D. City Manager’s Report 
12. ADJOURNMENT 
 
 
 
 
Key to agenda abbreviations:  
 
(A) Administrative- matters involving day-to-day decisions such as approving contracts, hiring 
staff and the procurement of goods and services. Administrative actions generally do not 
require formal actions by the elected body. 
 
(L)Legislative-  typically in the policy arena; legislative matters affect large areas and large 
groups of people, such as enacting dog regulations or amending the City code. Legislative 
action generally involves motions, resolutions and ordinances. 
 
(QJ)Quasi-Judicial- apply general rules to a specific interest, such as zoning change affecting 
a single piece of property, or a special use permit. Quasi-Judicial actions generally involve 
adjudication, sometimes in writing, but not a resolution or ordinance.  Decision for Quasi-
Judicial proceedings are made exclusively based upon the testimony presented on the record. 
Ex-parte communication (communication outside the official hearing) between elected officials 
and citizens is not permitted on Quasi-Judicial 

Page 2 of 60



 

City Council 
Agenda Item 3.B. 

July 17, 2025 

    
STAFF REPORT  

    
TO: Mayor Case and City Council 
    
FROM: Suzanne Leclercq, Deputy City Manager/City Clerk  
    
DATE: July 17, 2025 
    
SUBJECT: Appointments to the Utility Advisory Committee. (A) 

(Presenter Deputy City Manager/City Clerk Leclercq) 
     
  
BACKGROUND:  There are currently two positions with terms expired as of June 2025 for the Utility 
Advisory Committee. They are for Cindy Rumsey and Tim Rhatigan.  The City Clerks Office has 
advertised the position as per City Council's policy and has received applications from both 
incumbents Cindy Rumsey and Tim Rhatigan to re-apply.   
 
Following the Council's interviews of the applicants, the City Clerk is prepared to administer the Oath 
of Office to both of the incumbents. 
  
RECOMMENDATION:  Approve incumbents Cindy Rumsey and Tim Rhatigan to the Utility Advisory 
Committee. 
   
ATTACHMENTS: None 
 

Page 3 of 60



 

City Council 
Agenda Item 3.C. 

July 17, 2025 

    
STAFF REPORT  

    
TO: Mayor Case and City Council 
    
FROM: Suzanne Leclercq, Deputy City Manager/City Clerk  
    
DATE: July 17, 2025 
    
SUBJECT: Appointment to the Downtown Development Authority. (A) 

(Presenter Deputy City Manager/City Clerk Leclercq) 
     
  
BACKGROUND:  As the Council is aware, there are currently openings on the DDA.  Al Born's term 
has expired as of June 30, 2025, and he would like to re-apply for a position on the DDA. Mr. Born is 
eligible to re-apply and meets all the requirements to be on the DDA. 
 
Following the Council's interview of Mr. Born, the City Clerk is prepared to administer the Oath of 
Office to Mr. Born if he is re-appointed. 
  
RECOMMENDATION:  Approval of Al Born to the DDA. 
   
ATTACHMENTS: None 
 

Page 4 of 60



 

 

 

 

 

 

PROCLAMATION OF JULY AS PARKS AND RECREATION MONTH 

WHEREAS parks and recreation is an integral part of communities throughout this country, including the City 
of Woodland Park; and 

WHEREAS parks and recreation promotes health and wellness, improving the physical and mental health of 
people who live near parks; and  

WHEREAS parks and recreation promotes time spent in nature, which positively impacts mental health by 
increasing cognitive performance and well-being, and alleviating illnesses such as depression, attention deficit 
disorders, and Alzheimers; and  

WHEREAS parks and recreation encourages physical activities by providing space for popular sports, hiking 
trails, swimming pools and many other activities designed to promote active lifestyles; and  

WHEREAS park and recreation programming and education activities, such as out of-school time 
programming, youth sports, environmental, arts and cultural education, are critical to childhood development; 
and  

WHEREAS parks and recreation increases a community’s economic prosperity through increased property 
values, expansion of the local tax base, increased tourism, the attraction and retention of businesses, and crime 
reduction; and  

WHEREAS parks and recreation is fundamental to the environmental well-being of our community; and  

WHEREAS parks and recreation is essential and adaptable infrastructure that makes our communities resilient 
in the face of natural disasters and climate change; and 

WHEREAS our parks and natural recreation areas ensure the ecological beauty of our community and provide 
a place for children and adults to connect with nature and recreate outdoors; and  

WHEREAS the U.S. House of Representatives has designated July as Parks and Recreation Month; and  

WHEREAS the City of Woodland Park recognizes the benefits derived from parks and recreation resources.  

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY the Mayor and City Council that July is recognized as Park 
and Recreation Month in the City of Woodland Park, Teller County. 

 

___________________________________ 
Kellie Case, Mayor 
 
Attest:_____________________________ 
    July 17, 2025 

Page 5 of 60



 

 

ITEM: 

June 2025 Statement of Expenditures 

BACKGROUND: 

The City Council receives and approves the Statement of Expenditures for each month. 
 
DISCUSSION: 

Please review the following and attached check registers in support of the Statement of Expenditures. 
 
Summary 

 

June 2025 
Accounts Payable Checks 654,130.55 
Payroll Checks 572,136.73 
CEBT 100,392.39 
Wire-DDA x9005 299,753.66 
Wire-DDA x9004 59,603.55 
Vectra Visa credit card EFT 40,264.09 
Total 1,726,280.97 

 

 

The Elected Officials expenditures for June 2025 are attached as a separate report. 

 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 

Approve the June 2025 Statement of Expenditures and authorize the Mayor to sign Warrants in payment 
thereof. 

 

Meeting Date: July 17th, 2025 
Agenda Item Department Presenter 

 CMO/Finance Jessica Scott 
Accounting Director 

City of Woodland Park 
Staff Report for City Council 

Page 6 of 60



���������	�
���������������
�������������	����������������������������� �!"�#�$������%& 	����'����''()���**+$,-����$.�#����'�!�$�����,��/*�-*$0��+1+*2+�!�2��3���������*��+($/)�	*�*-1��4�'�567�8��&69:;<=>?@A<B=C D;E= FG @:<= HIJ @A<F@K LCMNNO<MA>? GPNQMA>?N @=?9:; 9:;<=>?G:?= R9KMPS T:?QUVWVWWX JRY O OZZ[IGOT\]�Z\OLH�̂�ZFI]_[IYH Ẁ ���V��������XaXb̀cXd������������dcdd��������XaXb̀cXd�defdbfWdWb� g̀Webhijk�lmnop qrs �������rtruvwrx������������xwxx��������rtruvwrx�VWVWẀ JRY O O@D[@FO�IOyFI]z bgdX ���V�����������{Vcdd������������dcdd�����������{Vcdd�defdbfWdWb� g̀Webhm|n}�~��p|j�~� xu���x�u ������������wxx������������xwxx�������������wxx�VWVWWb JRY O OHR\]��ZOII]\\ begd ���V����������VeWcXX������������dcdd����������VeWcXX�defdbfWdWb� g̀Web�n�j|}�i}o���~�hh xu���x�u ����������q�wrr������������xwxx�����������q�wrr�VWVWWe JRY O TIFO@�]c�T�@G� bWd{ ���V����������egWcdd������������dcdd����������egWcdd�defdbfWdWb� g̀Webxu����xq�xv�nhhjw�p~����j xqxv�x�u ���������q��wxx������������xwxx����������q��wxx�VWVWWg JRY O T�HF@]HH�\O_�LI[�9 bbee ���V����������VVWcbd������������dcdd����������VVWcbd�defdbfWdWb� g̀Webxv��u�m|onm�l||p ���� ������������wux������������xwxx�������������wux�VWVWW{ JRY O J]y�HO\]H�̂�H]IKFJ] bXgX ���V��������̀a{X{cẀ������������dcdd��������̀a{X{cẀ�defdbfWdWb� g̀Web}|����j�� ��uxxr�r �������vt�r�w�v������������xwxx��������vt�r�w�v�VWVWW� JRY O JRO@]��9]HD�]\FyF@ODF[@ b̀ {̀ ���V������������dcdd������������dcdd������������dcdd�defdbfWdWb� g̀Webxu��u�p|��ih|����|n������ rv�x� ����������sxwxx������������xwxx�����������sxwxx�VWVWXd JRY O JF@DOH�J[I9[IODF[@�@[�W �̀gg ���V����������VgWcWV������������dcdd����������VgWcWV�defdbfWdWb� g̀Web~}il������lm v�r�r��vq�������������w��������������xwxx�������������w���VWVWXV JRY O JF@DOH�ZFI]�9I[D]JDF[@ Xed̀ ���X��������Xag�{ceb������������dcdd��������Xag�{ceb�defdbfWdWb� g̀Webi}p�|hji�}t��n�jpt�mn�������nhxlv�xu������������tuxxwxx������������xwxx���������tuxxwxx�nmn����|�ni����~�hh xlv�u��uv�����������u�wqv������������xwxx�����������u�wqv�i}p�|hji�}�����j� xlv�u��s�v���������uvqwx�������������xwxx����������uvqwx��VWVWXW JRY O J[\[IOG[�O@O\�DFJO\�\OT d̀W{ ���V����������WbWcdd������������dcdd����������WbWcdd�defdbfWdWb� g̀Webmn��p|��ih|p�����j� �uxux���u ����������u�wxx������������xwxx�����������u�wxx�VWVWXX JRY O J[\[IOG[�T�F\GF@L�H�99\� bgdd ���W�����������WXcgb������������dcdd�����������WXcgb�defdbfWdWb� g̀Webxu��x�u�h�n�o|p qx��x�u ���������s�rw�u������������xwxx�����������u�w�u�xu��x�u�h�n�o|p qx��x�u ���������s�rw�u������������xwxx�����������quwux�VWVWX̀ JRY O J[I]�]\]JDIFJ�J[[9]IODFK] bXVe ���̀�������X{aebWcẀ������������dcdd�������X{aebWcẀ�defdbfWdWb� g̀Webxq��x�u�h�n�o|p xq�r�x�u ������r�tqu�w�v������������xwxx��������st�v�wur�xq��x�u�h�n�o|p xq�r�x�u ������r�tqu�w�v������������xwxx��������st�vrwu��xq��x�u�h�n�o|p xq�r�x�u ������r�tqu�w�v������������xwxx��������qtrq�wq��xq��x�u�h�n�o|p xq�r�x�u ������r�tqu�w�v������������xwxx���������tqs�wu��VWVWXb JRY O JI]ODFK]�J[@J]9DH�[Z�Oy]IFJO Wege ���V����������X�Wcdd������������dcdd����������X�Wcdd�defdbfWdWb� g̀Web���pjih�|�p r��� ���������rs�wxx������������xwxx����������rs�wxx�VWVWXe JRY O LIOF@L]I�F@Jc W{W ���V����������VdgcbW������������dcdd����������VdgcbW�defdbfWdWb� g̀Web�n�jp su�vxqs�xv����������x�wu�������������xwxx�����������x�wu��VWVWXg JRY O RO�@]H�y]JRO@FJO\�H�HD]yH XXb� ���V����������edgcbd������������dcdd����������edgcbd�defdbfWdWb� g̀Web~�hh����|�ni� u��v� ���������qx�wux������������xwxx����������qx�wux�VWVWX{ JRY O �[R@H[@�J[@DI[\H�H]J�IFD��H[\�bWb� ���V����������èVcdW������������dcdd����������èVcdW�defdbfWdWb� g̀Web�x�u v�rv���x ���������qv�wx�������������xwxx����������qv�wx��VWVWX� JRY O YOFG]@�Y]@�[@ bebg ���V�����������gWcdd������������dcdd�����������gWcdd�defdbfWdWb� g̀Webp|j�~��hm|n}�~� xu���x�u ������������wxx������������xwxx�������������wxx�
Page 7 of 60



���������	�
���������������
�������������	����������������������������� �!"�#�$������%& 	���������''()���**+$,-����$.�#����'�!�$�����,��/*�-*$0��+1+*2+�!�2��3���������*��+($/)�	*�*-1��4�'�567�8��&69:;<=>?@A<B=C D;E= FG @:<= HIJ @A<F@K LCMNNO<MA>? GPNQMA>?N @=?9:; 9:;<=>?G:?= R9KMPS T:?QUVWVWXY JRZ O [\F[O@F�J][\̂O@ _̀Va ���V��������Vb̀cYd_Y������������YdYY��������Vb̀cYd_Y�ỲeY_eWYW_� XfẀ_ghijklmjnk�o�pqk rstutrts �������vwxurysr������������ryrr��������vwxurysr�VWVWXV JRZ O \̂GFJF@\�z]I�T{HF@\HH�O@G�F@G{_Xf̀ ���V����������V̀fdYY������������YdYY����������V̀fdYY�ỲeY_eWYW_� XfẀ_|kl}�imk~~h u�usrt ���������vx�yrr������������ryrr����������vx�yrr�VWVWXW JRZ O H]{DR�\HD�9OIZ���I\JI\ODF]@�DIV ���V����������X_YdYY������������YdYY����������X_YdYY�ỲeY_eWYW_� XfẀ_jk�ghgh}�k~}y��gm��~��mnkh~�� r��rt ����������sryrr������������ryrr�����������sryrr�VWVWXa JRZ O [OII��HR\[D]@ V ���V����������VVYdYY������������YdYY����������VVYdYY�ỲeY_eWYW_� XfẀ_k~g��lki~�~hj rxrttrts ���������vvryrr������������ryrr����������vvryrr�VWVWXX JRZ O OOI]@�KOHHO[]DDF V ���V����������WXadYY������������YdYY����������WXadYY�ỲeY_eWYW_� XfẀ_jk��~��~�p~hi~�k~g��lki~�~hj rxr�trts ���������t��yrr������������ryrr����������t��yrr�VWVWX_ JRZ O ZO@GFJ\���JO[\T�TOIJ{H V ���V����������Vf̀dYc������������YdYY����������Vf̀dYc�ỲeY_eWYW_� XfẀ_ljg�gj��k~�lh| �vr�yr� ���������v�xyru������������ryrr����������v�xyru�VWVWX̀ JRZ O G]I]DR��J]DRIO@ V ���V�����������XYdYY������������YdYY�����������XYdYY�ỲeY_eWYW_� XfẀ_ljg�gj��k~�lh| �v�vyvs �����������ryrr������������ryrr������������ryrr�VWVWXf JRZ O Z{ID����\@G��GOR[ V ���V����������V_YdYY������������YdYY����������V_YdYY�ỲeY_eWYW_� XfẀ_ljg�gj��k~�lh| �svyv� ���������vsryrr������������ryrr����������vsryrr�VWVWX� JRZ O JF@G��̂J@\\H\ V ���V�����������WVd��������������YdYY�����������WVd���ỲeY_eWYW_� XfẀ_ljg�gj��k~�lh| srsxyr� ����������tvy��������������ryrr�����������tvy���VWVWXc JRZ O �O@\[[\�ZI��HFZ V ���V����������WYYdYY������������YdYY����������WYYdYY�ỲeY_eWYW_� XfẀ_ljg�gj��k~�lh| ss�yvu ���������trryrr������������ryrr����������trryrr�VWVW_Y JRZ O �]R@����]O@�[]zDFH V ���V�����������XYdYY������������YdYY�����������XYdYY�ỲeY_eWYW_� XfẀ_ljg�gj��k~�lh| s�suyrt �����������ryrr������������ryrr������������ryrr�VWVW_V JRZ O ÔT\I�Z]\R[\I V ���V�����������__dYY������������YdYY�����������__dYY�ỲeY_eWYW_� XfẀ_k~�lh|�o�j~hhgi ���sv�xx ����������ssyrr������������ryrr�����������ssyrr�VWVW_W JRZ O O[[FH]@�RO@H]@ V ���V����������VWYdYY������������YdYY����������VWYdYY�ỲeY_eWYW_� XfẀ_j~hhgi�m��ii�k~�lh| ���xtr�u ���������vtryrr������������ryrr����������vtryrr�VWVW_a JRZ O Ô��ZO{ẑO@@ V ���V����������VWYdYY������������YdYY����������VWYdYY�ỲeY_eWYW_� XfẀ_�|l�j�ipnkji�mk~|gj �����rs� ���������vtryrr������������ryrr����������vtryrr�VWVW_X JRZ O @O9O�O{D]�9OIDH WYX� ���a��������Vba_̀dWa������������YdYY��������Vba_̀dWa�ỲeY_eWYW_� XfẀ_rs�trts�m��k}~i s�vtrts �������vw�sxyt�������������ryrr��������vwvtxyu��rs�trts�m��k}~i s�vtrts �������vw�sxyt�������������ryrr�����������tsyv��rs�trts�m��k}~i s�vtrts �������vw�sxyt�������������ryrr����������tr�yvv�VWVW__ JRZ O ]JJ{9ODF]@O[�R\O[DR�J\@D\IH�]z_aYY ���V����������WfVdYY������������YdYY����������WfVdYY�ỲeY_eWYW_� XfẀ_pk~o~�p�n��~hj v�tv�vx� ���������t�vyrr������������ryrr����������t�vyrr�VWVW_̀ JRZ O 9IF]IFD��I\H\OIJR XacW ���V�����������aWdfY������������YdYY�����������aWdfY�ỲeY_eWYW_� XfẀ_��m�knlh|�m�~m�i vtuvut� �����������ty�r������������ryrr������������ty�r�VWVW_f JRZ O IÔ9OID�H{99[�b�F@Jd _W� ���V����������V̀fd�a������������YdYY����������V̀fd�a�ỲeY_eWYW_� XfẀ_p�kji�o�lkgh�� i�t���sxyrrv���������vx�y��������������ryrr����������vx�y���
Page 8 of 60



���������	�
���������������
�������������	����������������������������� �!"�#�$������%& 	����%����''()���**+$,-����$.�#����'�!�$�����,��/*�-*$0��+1+*2+�!�2��3���������*��+($/)�	*�*-1��4�'�567�8��&69:;<=>?@A<B=C D;E= FG @:<= HIJ @A<F@K LCMNNO<MA>? GPNQMA>?N @=?9:; 9:;<=>?G:?= R9KMPS T:?QUVWVWXY JRZ O H[J\IFDOH�D[JR@]̂]L_�J]I9]IODF à̀W ���V����������bcYdYW������������adaa����������bcYdYW�aefaXfWaWX� g̀WeXhijkl�mnopqnrpos ihhtuuvvkw���������vuxyxk������������hyhh����������vuxyxk�VWVWXc JRZ O HZOLLH�J]z9O@F[H{�F@J ebX ���g����������XXXdea������������adaa����������XXXdea�aefaXfWaWX� g̀WeX|op}nrm�~����� whh���k�lvhh�l���������kwhyhh������������hyhh����������kwhyhh��r��pq whh���k�lvhh�i����������lhyhh~�����������hyhh�����������lhyhh~|op}nrm��~����� whh���kxkvui�i���������w�vyhh������������hyhh����������w�vyhh�|op}nrm�~����� whh���kxkvui�������������vyhh������������hyhh������������vyhh�|op}nrm�~����� whh���kxkvui�x����������iuyih������������hyhh�����������iuyih�|op}nrm�~����� whh���kxvlx�����������lhyhh������������hyhh�����������lhyhh�|op}nrm�~����� whh���kxvlx��k����������vhyhh������������hyhh�����������vhyhh�VWVWea JRZ O H@]��RFD[�̂F@[@���\@F�]Iz{�F@JXYV ���V����������XWcdXe������������adaa����������XWcdXe�aefaXfWaWX� g̀WeX���oq�����o���~�|��� �hklwil� ���������lkuyli������������hyhh����������lkuyli�VWVWeV JRZ O H9I\J[�@[D�]IZH{̂ Ĵ X̀bg ���V��������V{ỲXdaa������������adaa��������V{ỲXdaa�aefaXfWaWX� g̀WeXo�������������������������� whv� �������w�xtlyhh������������hyhh��������w�xtlyhh�VWVWeW JRZ O HDO@GOIG�F@H\IO@J[�J]z9O@_ VacV ���V��������W{XWYdgX������������adaa��������W{XWYdgX�aefaXfWaWX� g̀WeXhijkhkl��q�����q� hlwukhkl �������k�lkxy�l������������hyhh��������k�lkxy�l�VWVWeb JRZ O H\@�TOGL[�J] X̀Wg ���V��������W{geadWX������������adaa��������W{geadWX�aefaXfWaWX� g̀WeX���s���~����� tkkutl �������k��ihykl������������hyhh��������k��ihykl�VWVWè JRZ O DR[�O�\[]\H�H]̂\DF]@{�F@Jd baVe ���V��������V{c̀edXa������������adaa��������V{c̀edXa�aefaXfWaWX� g̀WeX���mp�����~���� po�jkhkljhhxuk�������w�utiylh������������hyhh��������w�utiylh�VWVWeX JRZ O DR]zOH�Jd�[KO@H XgVV ���V����������̀aadaa������������adaa����������̀aadaa�aefaXfWaWX� g̀WeX�nmm|opq���no��rq���r}nrm�o�� iwwkl ���������thhyhh������������hyhh����������thhyhh�VWVWee JRZ O �O F[�HO@FDOI_�H\99̂_ V̀Yc ���W����������XXcdcW������������adaa����������XXcdcW�aefaXfWaWX� g̀WeX�|�qn�p����|���p���~�}�s xvkv��vt ���������wkkyth������������hyhh����������wkkyth��|�qn�p����|���p���~�}�s xvklv�hi ���������tv�ylk������������hyhh����������tv�ylk�VWVWeg JRZ O �]]ĜO@G�9OIZ�HJR]]̂�GFHD�I[�WVWeW ���V�������gb{ebgdXg������������adaa�������gb{ebgdXg�aefaXfWaWX� g̀WeXhvjkl�������q�� hihvkhkl �������v�iv�yl�������������hyhh��������v�iv�yl��VWVWeY JRZ O OzOIIO��F@D[IH Xegc ���V����������bagdXa������������adaa����������bagdXa�aefVWfWaWX� g̀WcX��nr�¡����r hihtkhkl ���������vh�ylh������������hyhh����������vh�ylh�VWVWec JRZ O O@D]@FO�IOzFI[¢ Xgab ���V�����������ccdaa������������adaa�����������ccdaa�aefVWfWaWX� g̀WcX��q�|�j����o�|��~�|��� hihtkhkl ����������uuyhh������������hyhh�����������uuyhh�VWVWga JRZ O O9[ ��OHD[�H_HD[zH Xeè ���b����������XàdeV������������adaa����������XàdeV�aefVWfWaWX� g̀WcXwlh���r��rn���n}} thhliw ���������tuhyhh������������hyhh����������tuhyhh���q�����rs� thktlh ������������yhw������������hyhh�������������yhw���q�����rs� ttlvv� ������������yih������������hyhh�������������yih�VWVWgV JRZ O TOGL[I�z[D[I�F@J ẀgY ���V��������W{cYYd̀ �̀�����������adaa��������W{cYYd̀ �̀aefVWfWaWX� g̀WcX�q����r�p���|opq xhwuik�u �������k�uxxytt������������hyhh��������k�uxxytt�VWVWgW JRZ O J[@D\I_̂F@Z b̀̀W ���W����������ebedae������������adaa����������ebedae�aefVWfWaWX� g̀WcXhljkhkl����rs�� lklkhkl ���������iviyhi������������hyhh����������tikylk�hljkhkl����rs�� lklkhkl ���������iviyhi������������hyhh����������w�vylt�VWVWgb JRZ O JRO@[_�9[HD�[̂FzF@ODF]@ X̀ Ỳ ���V�����������cadaa������������adaa�����������cadaa�aefVWfWaWX� g̀WcX
Page 9 of 60



���������	�
���������������
�������������	����������������������������� �!"�#�$������%& 	����&����''()���**+$,-����$.�#����'�!�$�����,��/*�-*$0��+1+*2+�!�2��3���������*��+($/)�	*�*-1��4�'�567�8��&69:;<=>?@A<B=C D;E= FG @:<= HIJ @A<F@K LCMNNO<MA>? GPNQMA>?N @=?9:; 9:;<=>?G:?= R9KMPS T:?QUVWXYZ�[\]̂ _̀\�̀ab]c\ deYZZ ����������fVgVV������������VgVV�����������fVgVV�hihijk JRl O JRmnm@@m�TmJlmI ojpq ���h����������hjhrpp������������prpp����������hjhrpp�psthitipio� kjiqo[uvvw]xXy_[a\[ VWVeYVYZ ���������z{zgVV������������VgVV����������z{zgVV�hihijo JRl O JF@DOH�J|I9|IODF|@�@|�i kqjj ���i����������}kkrki������������prpp����������}kkrki�psthitipio� kjiqou~_�w]������\\x eYdzfZ�VWV���������z{YgYz������������VgVV����������z{YgYz�u~_�w]������ eYdY�VY��z���������z{YgYz������������VgVV����������z{YgYz�hihijs JRl O JF@DOH��FIm�9I|DmJDF|@ }spk ���h��������i�hhorhp������������prpp��������i�hhorhp�psthitipio� kjiqo_~[v\̀x_w~����b̀���w� V�e{Z�dYV��������Y�zzZgzV������������VgVV��������Y�zzZgzV�hihijj JRl O J|�|IOG|�O@O�nDFJO���OT kpi� ���h�����������o}rpp������������prpp�����������o}rpp�psthitipio� kjiqo�b��[\]̂ _̀\[ YZVZYVzV� ����������ZdgVV������������VgVV�����������ZdgVV�hihij� JRl O J|�|IOG|�Gm9D�|��ImKm@�m ��o ���h����������jshrpp������������prpp����������jshrpp�psthitipio� kjiqouv̀ �̀�_�uw]��_̀\~[\�]\~\�b� VWVZYVYZ ���������{WzgVV������������VgVV����������{WzgVV�hihijq JRl O J|Im����OF@��9 kq�p ���i��������h�ksjrss������������prpp��������h�ksjrss�psthitipio� kjiqoà\[x\]�[\�\]�]\vb_] �f�VWeZ �������z�VYfgfW������������VgVV��������z�VYfgfW�à\[x\]�[\�\]�]\vb_] �ffeW�Y ���������ed{g{V������������VgVV����������ed{g{V�hihi�p JRl O J9H�GFHDIFT�D|IH��F@J hqk ���i��������}�}s�rk�������������prpp��������}�}s�rk��psthitipio� kjiqoxu]��[uvv�_\[ VVYVY�Z�fV�VVz�������Y�{fZgdY������������VgVV��������Y�{fZgdY�xu]��xww�[ VVYVZfWzVz�VVz���������Z{dgzW������������VgVV����������Z{dgzW�hihi�h JRl O GOFlF@�O99�FmG�O�mIFJO�F@J oos} ���h��������}�koirpp������������prpp��������}�koirpp�psthitipio� kjiqo����������������������������� dZYfedf �������d�eZYgVV������������VgVV��������d�eZYgVV�hihi�i JRl O GOKm�RO�DmI okik ���h����������}khrpp������������prpp����������}khrpp�psthitipio� kjiqo[̂ [̀g����bx\]_b�[����\]c[x]w� VWVeYVYZ ���������dezgVV������������VgVV����������dezgVV�hihi�} JRl O G|J��OID�J|9FmH���9IF@DF@L }ioi ���h����������h}hrj}������������prpp����������h}hrj}�psthitipio� kjiqo�bx\]��ub�_x��]\vw]x d�VefV ���������zdzg{d������������VgVV����������zdzg{d�hihi�k JRl O m�9�|nmIH�J|�@JF��HmIKFJmH��F@opqq ���h����������js�rpp������������prpp����������js�rpp�psthitipio� kjiqo�b̀�]wu~y�̀a\̀� VVVVZZVfZW���������{W�gVV������������VgVV����������{W�gVV�hihi�o JRl O m@LmI���O@m }�js ���h����������ih}rop������������prpp����������ih}rop�psthitipio� kjiqo_~[x]ùxw]���v�] VWVZYVYZ ���������YzdgZV������������VgVV����������YzdgZV�hihi�s JRl O �OIFH��OJRF@mIn�J|r hjhi ���h����������qsjr}j������������prpp����������qsjr}j�psthitipio� kjiqo[�\\v\]��]ww� bz�dWV ���������fW{gd{������������VgVV����������fW{gd{�hihi�j JRl O �FIHD�JFDF�m@H�TO@l�O@G�DI�HD�os�} ���h��������h�phjrkk������������prpp��������h�phjrkk�psthitipio� kjiqoVWXYZ���ẁ\]b e{zW{zYf �������z�Vz{gee������������VgVV��������z�Vz{gee�hihi�� JRl O ��|�9|F@D�m@KF|I@�m@DO��HnHDm�o}ok ���h��������h�pqorpp������������prpp��������h�pqorpp�psthitipio� kjiqo]\~\�b���\\�YVYZ  [uzVe{Z �������z�VfZgVV������������VgVV��������z�VfZgVV�hihi�q JRl O LO�mDDm��DRm ijs ���h����������hphrq�������������prpp����������hphrq��psthitipio� kjiqo�\cb��~wx_̀\���v� VZdzYVYZ ���������zVzgf�������������VgVV����������zVzgf��hihiqp JRl O L|OD�9ODJR�TIm�F@L�J|�9O@n ojhi ���h����������ihprho������������prpp����������ihprho�psthitipio� kjiqo�\\]�y\�_̂\]� \�z���f ���������YzVgzZ������������VgVV����������YzVgzZ�
Page 10 of 60



���������	�
���������������
�������������	����������������������������� �!"�#�$������%& 	���������''()���**+$,-����$.�#����'�!�$�����,��/*�-*$0��+1+*2+�!�2��3���������*��+($/)�	*�*-1��4�'�567�8��&69:;<=>?@A<B=C D;E= FG @:<= HIJ @A<F@K LCMNNO<MA>? GPNQMA>?N @=?9:; 9:;<=>?G:?= R9KMPS T:?QUVWVWXV JRY O LIOF@LZI�F@J[ W\W ���V�����������]V[̂V������������_[__�����������]V[̂V�_̀aVWaW_Ŵ � ]bWX̂cdefg hijklmjhhn����������kjoij������������momm�����������kjoij�VWVWXW JRY O F@GFLp�qODZI�LIpr9s�ttJ V̂b] ���u��������Ws\̀_[__������������_[__��������Ws\̀_[__�_̀aVWaW_Ŵ � ]bWX̂vcwedfve�fedxyxyz�{|dggwg }hli �������l~klmomm������������momm��������j~ljmomm�vcwedfve�fedxyxyz�{|dggwg }hli �������l~klmomm������������momm��������j~ljmomm�fedxyxyz�{|dggwg ���n ���������kkmomm������������momm����������kkmomm�VWVWXu JRY O F@DZIHDODZ�JRZ�FJOt�Jps�F@J[ Wu\b ���V�������V\s̀b\[__������������_[__�������V\s̀b\[__�_̀aVWaW_Ŵ � ]bWX̂gv�d�dg�����fc njmjin ������j�~n}�omm������������momm�������j�~n}�omm�VWVWX] JRY O YOFGZ@�YZ@�p@ ^̀ b̂ ���V����������VVb[__������������_[__����������VVb[__�_̀aVWaW_Ŵ � ]bWX̂gwf��c�{|wdy��c����c{{ mnmklmli ���������jj}omm������������momm����������jj}omm�VWVWX̂ JRY O YFZIO�t[��ZttZI ^̀ ]̂ ���V����������V_V[__������������_[__����������V_V[__�_̀aVWaW_Ŵ � ]bWX̂�defwy�we����c{{ mnmllmli ���������jmjomm������������momm����������jmjomm�VWVWX̀ JRY O tOq��FI��p��Hr�O@@Z��[�IpLZIHs _̂̂] ���V��������us___[__������������_[__��������us___[__�_̀aVWaW_Ŵ � ]bWX̂mi�lmli�|wzd|�gwe�x{wg mnmklmli ��������~mmmomm������������momm���������~mmmomm�VWVWXb JRY O �OI���ppGZ� ]̂\_ ���V����������W\_[]\������������_[__����������W\_[]\�_̀aVWaW_Ŵ � ]bWX̂gxfw�g�cwe�xgve milllmlid ���������l�mok�������������momm����������l�mok��VWVWX\ JRY O �ZtpG��JO�9TZtt bb ���V�����������W][__������������_[__�����������W][__�_̀aVWaW_Ŵ � ]bWX̂�defwy�xyz mnmhlmli ����������lkomm������������momm�����������lkomm�VWVWXX JRY O HDZKZ�KOI@ZI V ���V�����������\\[uW������������_[__�����������\\[uW�_̀aVWaW_Ŵ � ]bWX̂�yx�ve��ewx���egw�wyf milklmli ������������o�l������������momm�������������o�l�VWVu__ JRY O �pZt�H�FDR V ���V�����������ù[__������������_[__�����������ù[__�_̀aVWaW_Ŵ � ]bWX̂{vy{wef�{|wdy�c mnmilmli �����������nomm������������momm������������nomm�VWVu_V JRY O YODR��TpHJRZ V ���V��������Vŝ__[__������������_[__��������Vŝ__[__�_̀aVWaW_Ŵ � ]bWX̂{w�wfwe��c|vf������d{� mnmnlmli �������j~immomm������������momm��������j~immomm�VWVu_W JRY O Dpq@�p���pR@HDpq@ V ���V����������WXu[X̀������������_[__����������WXu[X̀�_̀aVWaW_Ŵ � ]bWX̂ewx��o��vfw|�evv��gwf���e�dyf mnmnlmlid ���������lh�ohn������������momm����������lh�ohn�VWVu_u JRY O OtZ�O@GIp����OIFO�KZIGr�Jp V ���V����������W_V[ù������������_[__����������W_V[ù�_̀aVWaW_Ŵ � ]bWX̂�fx|xf��ew��y� jljomk ���������lmjo�n������������momm����������lmjo�n�VWVu_] JRY O �Z���tOIHZ@ V ���V����������WbV[X̀������������_[__����������WbV[X̀�_̀aVWaW_Ŵ � ]bWX̂�fx|xf��ew��y� jlkkomk ���������l}john������������momm����������l}john�VWVu_̂ JRY O JRIFH���DIOJZ��YZ@@p@ V ���V�����������]W[Ŵ������������_[__�����������]W[Ŵ�_̀aVWaW_Ŵ � ]bWX̂�fx|xf��ew��y� �iojk ����������kloli������������momm�����������kloli�VWVu_̀ JRY O �pr@DOF@�KFZq�r@FDZG��ZDRpGFHDWX̀] ���V�����������X_[__������������_[__�����������X_[__�_̀aVWaW_Ŵ � ]bWX̂�d�x|���vz�fedxyxyz mnmhlmli ����������hmomm������������momm�����������hmomm�VWVu_b JRY O @FJRptZ�GZp@@�HOrZI ^̂bW ���V�����������\b[V_������������_[__�����������\b[V_�_̀aVWaW_Ŵ � ]bWX̂�x|wdzw�ewx���egw�wyf mnmklmli �����������}ojm������������momm������������}ojm�VWVu_\ JRY O p�IZFtt��OrDp�pDFKZ�HDpIZHs�F@ ]̂uV ���W����������VuX[̂_������������_[__����������VuX[̂_�_̀aVWaW_Ŵ � ]bWX̂mi�lmli�{�dezwg il�lmli ���������j�hoim������������momm�����������hjo}n�mi�lmli�{�dezwg il�lmli ���������j�hoim������������momm�����������k}o}k�
Page 11 of 60



���������	�
���������������
�������������	����������������������������� �!"�#�$������%& 	����'����(()*���++,$-.����$/�#����(�!�$�����-��0+�.+$1��,2,+3,�!�3��4���������+��,)$0*�	+�+.2��5�(�6'7�8��&'9:;<=>?@A<B=C D;E= FG @:<= HIJ @A<F@K LCMNNO<MA>? GPNQMA>?N @=?9:; 9:;<=>?G:?= R9KMPS T:?QUVWVXYZ JR[ O 9\]�HFHD\IR]]G�JRO9D\I�F̂�J]̂] _̀YY ���V�����������WZaYY������������YaYY�����������WZaYY�ỲbVWbWYW_� cdWZ_efghijfg�khl mnopqmn ����������mrsoo������������osoo�����������mrsoo�VWVXVY JR[ O 9F[\H�9\O[�I\LF]@Ô�TtF̂GF@L�G c̀cd ���V����������VddaYY������������YaYY����������VddaYY�ỲbVWbWYW_� cdWZ_uvuwhifl�jgxyuzijfg mq{mnpn ���������q||soo������������osoo����������q||soo�VWVXVV JR[ O 9tIJ\̂ �̂DFI\�}�ItTT\I�J]~9O@� _̀X� ���V����������d�̀ à�������������YaYY����������d�̀ à��ỲbVWbWYW_� cdWZ_lj����hlex {��oq�{{ ���������|�psp�������������osoo����������|�psp��VWVXVW JR[ O �tOGF\@D��F@O@J\�tHO��F@J _WYc ���V����������_YYaYY������������YaYY����������_YYaYY�ỲbVWbWYW_� cdWZ_yfxih�u��hz�jgu�lu�jvv onm�momn ���������noosoo������������osoo����������noosoo�VWVXVX JR[ O I\bH9\J�F@Ja c�Vd ���V�������V_�V_̀ad_������������YaYY�������V_�V_̀ad_�ỲbVWbWYW_� cdWZ_l������z�������������h���e�� jgwo{mnor{n������qn�qnps|n������������osoo�������qn�qnps|n�VWVXVc JR[ O I]H�J�\�H[F��ÔFJ\��\O@ cccY ���V����������V�YaYY������������YaYY����������V�YaYY�ỲbVWbWYW_� cdWZ_jgxil�zifl���y�l opormomn ���������q�osoo������������osoo����������q�osoo�VWVXV_ JR[ O H[OLLH�J]~9O@F\H��F@J X̀_ ���W����������WX̀aYY������������YaYY����������WX̀aYY�ỲbVWbWYW_� cdWZ_�gj�fl�����yye qoo�h�m�m�rp�qo����������r�soo������������osoo�����������r�soo��gj�fl�����yye qoo�h�m�m�rp�r���������q��soo������������osoo����������q��soo�VWVXV̀ JR[ O H@]��RFD\�̂F@\@�}�t@F�]I~��F@J_�V ���V����������̀ _̀aZV������������YaYY����������̀ _̀aZV�ỲbVWbWYW_� cdWZ_uwugi�u�yugxu xomnm{{p ���������ppnsrq������������osoo����������ppnsrq�VWVXVd JR[ O H]̂FDtG\�̂O[\�~O@OL\~\@D _YdX ���V����������c_�àY������������YaYY����������c_�àY�ỲbVWbWYW_� cdWZ_op mn�yfge��hjgiughgzu yxjq|m{q� ���������{n�spo������������osoo����������{n�spo�VWVXV� JR[ O Ht̂ F̂KO@�LI\\@�H\OK���OIKFH��̂ __d� ���V����������_̀Wa_Y������������YaYY����������_̀Wa_Y�ỲbVWbWYW_� cdWZ_�hiiul���q��ugulhv�k�xjguxx qn{m ���������npmsno������������osoo����������npmsno�VWVXVZ JR[ O DGH�TI]OGTO@G�̂ Ĵ _XX_ ���X��������V�̀YXaWV������������YaYY��������V�̀YXaWV�ỲbVWbWYW_� cdWZ_on momn�z�hl�ux onmnmomn ���������q�ms{n������������osoo����������q�ms{n�op mn�z�h�ux���zji¡��hvv onmnmomnh �����������msno������������osoo������������msno�op mn�z�hl�ux���khve�jg onmnmomnk ���������p��smp������������osoo����������p��smp�VWVXWY JR[ O D\̂ \̂I�J]t@D��R]@]IOI��G\9tD��WZc̀ ���V��������V�_YYaYY������������YaYY��������V�_YYaYY�ỲbVWbWYW_� cdWZ_efghijfg�x�fy��ji��h��ulf�ylf�oponmomn �������q�noosoo������������osoo��������q�noosoo�VWVXWV JR[ O D\IIOL\@\HFH _̀Wd ���X��������d��cWa_Z������������YaYY��������d��cWa_Z�ỲbVWbWYW_� cdWZ_kjfxfvjex�ilhgxyfli ¢ooo{{r ����������p|s{|������������osoo�����������p|s{|�kjfxfvjex�ilhgxyfli ¢ooo{pm �������m�m{�s|r������������osoo��������m�m{�s|r�kjfxfvjex�ilhgxyfli ¢ooo{�r �������m�m�qs��������������osoo��������m�m�qs���VWVXWW JR[ O DF~T\I�̂F@\�\̂\JbJ]@DI]̂�J]I9 VVc_ ���V�������W���VcàV������������YaYY�������W���VcàV�ỲbVWbWYW_� cdWZ_l�����������y£���¤���g��yx mmnm{ ������m���q{spq������������osoo�������m���q{spq�VWVXWX JR[ O t@JJ�tDF̂FD��@]DF�FJODF]@�J@DIWYVW ���W����������WcVaỲ������������YaYY����������WcVaỲ�ỲbVWbWYW_� cdWZ_{i��kjvvjg��ijul�hxxuxx�ugi mmnonqnn� ���������m{qsop������������osoo������������{s���{i��kjvvjg��ijul�hxxuxx�ugi mmnonqnn� ���������m{qsop������������osoo����������qnpsp��VWVXWc JR[ O t@G\ILI]t@G�H]̂tDF]@H VẀY ���V��������V�cZXadc������������YaYY��������V�cZXadc�ỲbVWbWYW_� cdWZ_�yye�xuyijz�luyhjl mn�opoq �������q�{r�s|{������������osoo��������q�{r�s|{�VWVXW_ JR[ O tHO�T̂t\T]][ _cdV ���W��������V�ZYXad_������������YaYY��������V�ZYXad_�ỲbVWbWYW_� cdWZ_x�yyvjux����iy jgwoop{m{�{�������q�m|msmo������������osoo��������q�m|msmo�
Page 12 of 60



���������	�
���������������
�������������	����������������������������� �!"�#�$������%& 	���������''()���**+$,-����$.�#����'�!�$�����,��/*�-*$0��+1+*2+�!�2��3���������*��+($/)�	*�*-1��4�'�567�8��&69:;<=>?@A<B=C D;E= FG @:<= HIJ @A<F@K LCMNNO<MA>? GPNQMA>?N @=?9:; 9:;<=>?G:?= R9KMPS T:?QUVWX�YZ[[V\]Y \̂ _̀ à̀baac���������cdefgg������������̀ f̀ �̀���������cdefgg�hihjik JRl O mDn�9OHH�HO@G�o�LIOKnp kqq ���r��������isthuvhq������������wvww��������isthuvhq�wkxhixiwiq� rtiuqYyZ]]z]] g̀{|{̀{g̀b���������a{afg̀������������̀ f̀ �̀���������a{afg̀�YyZ]]z]] g̀{|{̀{ge|���������ceefbc������������̀ f̀ �̀���������ceefbc�YyZ]]z]] g̀d̀ {̀{g̀{���������cgdfd̀������������̀ f̀ �̀���������cgdfd̀�YyZ]]z]] g̀d̀ {̀{g̀g���������a{cf}|������������̀ f̀ �̀���������a{cf}|�hihjit JRl O KFKFG�n@LF@nnIF@L�LI~m9 qhth ���h��������rsw�ivqw������������wvww��������rsw�ivqw�wkxhixiwiq� rtiuqz�����������������������]�� �{b{agd�d �������b�̀}{fg̀������������̀ f̀ �̀�������b�̀}{fg̀�hihji� JRl O �OL@nI�n�mF9�n@D�J~v kkk ���i��������hswqrvjk������������wvww��������hswqrvjk�wkxhixiwiq� rtiuq[W��Y [d|�̀b{b̀{{���������gdbfcd������������̀ f̀ �̀���������gdbfcd�[W��Y [d|�̀b{bg̀|���������ge|fad������������̀ f̀ �̀���������ge|fad�hihjiu JRl O �O�Fn�HO@FDOI��Hm99p� rh�u ���h�����������quvtw������������wvww�����������quvtw�wkxhixiwiq� rtiuq�ZY���\WV�YZ[[V\]Y�����z }d{}{dd| ����������g|fà������������̀ f̀ �̀����������g|fà�hihjjw JRl O �nOI�9OIDH�O@G�n�mF9�n@D�J~ rikk ���h����������htrvwi������������wvww����������htrvwi�wkxhixiwiq� rtiuqX�X�W��[W��Y cb̀g{ ���������eabf̀{������������̀ f̀ �̀���������eabf̀{�hihjjh JRl O �nHD�~~G�pOlnH��ODnI�GFHDIFJD ktu ���h��������qsqwwvtq������������wvww��������qsqwwvtq�wkxhixiwiq� rtiuqb̀�{g�̀g�{g��]VV�\]V� g̀{e{̀{g �������g�g̀ f̀ag������������̀ f̀ �̀�������g�g̀ f̀ag�hihjji JRl O �~~GpO@G�ROIG�OIn�o�In@DOp itju ���j��������hsrjivkk������������wvww��������hsrjivkk�wkxhixiwiq� rtiuqg̀�{̀{g���W�z]Y gde{̀{g �������e�bd{fcc������������̀ f̀ �̀�������e�dbgf{g�g̀�{̀{g���W�z]Y gde{̀{g �������e�bd{fcc������������̀ f̀ �̀����������d|fbg�g̀�{̀{g���W�z]Y gde{̀{g �������e�bd{fcc������������̀ f̀ �̀����������baf|c�hihjjj JRl O TFIJRO��H tq ���h����������ruuvuw������������wvww����������ruuvuw�wkxhuxiwiq� rtjk�g̀�{g�̀c�{g���W�z]Y d}cg}c ���������b||f|̀������������̀ f̀ �̀���������b||f|̀�hihjjr JRl O Tpmn�Tp~HH~��JpnO@F@L qkht ���h���������stkrvwi������������wvww���������stkrvwi�wkxhuxiwiq� rtjk�g̀�{g��V]Ŵ \̂z b̀ed �������}�acbf̀{������������̀ f̀ �̀�������}�acbf̀{�hihjjq JRl O TmHF@nHH�pO��LI~m9 qqkk ���h����������tqwvww������������wvww����������tqwvww�wkxhuxiwiq� rtjk�g̀�{g�V]zWV��]]Y abe| ���������ag̀ f̀ �̀�����������̀ f̀ �̀���������ag̀ f̀ �̀hihjjk JRl O JF@DOH�J~I9~IODF~@�@~�i rutt ���h����������iwrvhw������������wvww����������iwrvhw�wkxhuxiwiq� rtjk�Ẑ\��������V]]� b{ddgd|dg̀ ���������{̀bfè������������̀ f̀ �̀���������{̀bfè�hihjjt JRl O JF@DOH��FIn�9I~DnJDF~@ jkwr ���h����������hqkvrw������������wvww����������hqkvrw�wkxhuxiwiq� rtjk�\̂Y[]��\�̂����W� �̀bag}d{dd���������egcfb̀������������̀ f̀ �̀���������egcfb̀�hihjj� JRl O JFIHO hrr ���h��������isqwwvww������������wvww��������isqwwvww�wkxhuxiwiq� rtjk��]�Z��\XV]�[�c̀{gcac�e \̂_è è|{|�������{�g̀ f̀̀ �̀�����������̀ f̀ �̀�������{�g̀ f̀̀ �̀hihjju JRl O J~p~IOG~�O@Op�DFJOp�pOT rwi� ���i����������utrv�w������������wvww����������utrv�w�wkxhuxiwiq� rtjk�VWX�Y]�_\�]Y {g̀b{b̀c} ���������àef{̀������������̀ f̀ �̀���������àef{̀�VWX�Y]�_\�]Y {g̀b{b̀ag ���������{adfc̀������������̀ f̀ �̀���������{adfc̀�hihjrw JRl O JI~HH�9~F@D�H~pmDF~@H�ppJ qiur ���h����������rwwvww������������wvww����������rwwvww�wkxhuxiwiq� rtjk�[�V z�W[�Y ��{b̀}}̀ ���������b̀ f̀̀ �̀�����������̀ f̀ �̀���������b̀ f̀̀ �̀hihjrh JRl O JI~�@�DI~9R� rhtt ���h�����������ikvtq������������wvww�����������ikvtq�wkxhuxiwiq� rtjk�Ŵ�]�XW�z]�¡�Y���� c{cg̀ ����������{cfag������������̀ f̀ �̀����������{cfag�
Page 13 of 60



���������	�
���������������
�������������	����������������������������� �!"�#�$������%& 	����'����(()*���++,$-.����$/�#����(�!�$�����-��0+�.+$1��,2,+3,�!�3��4���������+��,)$0*�	+�+.2��5�(�67'�8��&79:;<=>?@A<B=C D;E= FG @:<= HIJ @A<F@K LCMNNO<MA>? GPNQMA>?N @=?9:; 9:;<=>?G:?= R9KMPS T:?QUVWVXYW JRZ O GO@F[\H�\]@L�JR[KI]\[D ŴX ���W������VV_̀Wâ b̂ �̂�����������̂ b̂ �̂�����VV_̀Wâ b̂ �̂ _̂cVdcŴWe� YaX_fghgi�jklmn�opqmlrstu�vihh hwvxgiy ������iz{vxi|hh������������h|hh�������iz{vxi|hh�ghgi�jklmn�opqmlrstu�vihh hwvxgi} ������iz{vxi|hh������������h|hh�������iz{vxi|hh�VWVXYX JRZ O G]J~�OID�J]9F[H���9IF@DF@L XWeW ���V����������V_eb̂ �̂�����������̂ b̂ �̂���������V_eb̂ �̂ _̂cVdcŴWe� YaX_f}�o���oo�jy��o xzhwvi ���������vwi|hh������������h|hh����������vwi|hh�VWVXYY JRZ O [\�9OH]�JD��9~T\FJ�R[O\DR�\OT]WYV ���V����������Ŵab̂ �̂�����������̂ b̂ �̂���������Ŵab̂ �̂ _̂cVdcŴWe� YaX_fhi�gi�}yj���������jy����o�o ��oghgvgi�gw���������gh�|hh������������h|hh����������gh�|hh�VWVXYe JRZ O [\��OK[�LI[[@R]~H[H Yd_e ���V��������_̀YXeb̂ �̂�����������̂ b̂ �̂�������_̀YXeb̂ �̂ _̂cVdcŴWe� YaX_fj����������o vv �������w{�xi|hh������������h|hh��������w{�xi|hh�VWVXY_ JRZ O �[\HT~IL�R]\D���~\\[KFL�F@J eâe ���V�������VỲfŶ b̂ �̂�����������̂ b̂ �̂������VỲfŶ b̂ �̂ _̂cVdcŴWe� YaX_fhi�gi�������oo������� �iv�z ������v�{z�h|hh������������h|hh�������v�{z�h|hh�VWVXYa JRZ O LO�[DD[̀�DR[ Wa_ ���V����������VWdb̂ �̂�����������̂ b̂ �̂���������VWdb̂ �̂ _̂cVdcŴWe� YaX_f��o��y��y������jj hixvghgiy ���������vg�|hh������������h|hh����������vg�|hh�VWVXYf JRZ O LI[OD�9\OF@H�HDI~JD~I[H eaVf ���V������V̂ Ỳ f̂ b̂Ŵ������������̂ b̂ �̂�����V̂ Ỳ f̂ b̂Ŵ� _̂cVdcŴWe� YaX_f�uqt��pqq��s�lr��s��������n���v|h �����vh�{zhh|gh������������h|hh������vh�{zhh|gh�VWVXYd JRZ O R9FẀ\\J eYWe ���V����������XYYbYY������������̂ b̂ �̂���������XYYbYY� _̂cVdcŴWe� YaX_f�������������� �i�g�� ���������x��|��������������h|hh����������x��|���VWVXê JRZ O FI]@��]~@DOF@ VXa_ ���V�����������VebWY������������̂ b̂ �̂����������VebWY� _̂cVdcŴWe� YaX_f���}����� ���jzwg ����������vi|g�������������h|hh�����������vi|g��VWVXeV JRZ O  ]R@H]@�J]@DI]\H�H[J~IFD��H]\~eWed ���V�������Vf̀YdfbXa������������̂ b̂ �̂������Vf̀YdfbXa� _̂cVdcŴWe� YaX_f��jj�jsrt��lstlr¡�¢�ksrt�srl �vxxzwvi ������vz{��z|x�������������h|hh�������vz{��z|x��VWVXeW JRZ O Z[[9�O�[IFJO�T[O~DF�~\�F@J XV̂e ���V�����������__b̂ �̂�����������̂ b̂ �̂����������__b̂ �̂ _̂cVdcŴWe� YaX_fghgi�o��£�j����� �y}ghgi���gg����������ww|hh������������h|hh�����������ww|hh�VWVXeX JRZ O \O@G�DFD\[�L~OIO@D[[�J]�9O@� eaVe ���V��������X̀aXWb̂ �̂�����������̂ b̂ �̂�������X̀aXWb̂ �̂ _̂cVdcŴWe� YaX_fhx�g�����y�����o iivvixgv �������x{�xg|hh������������h|hh��������x{�xg|hh�VWVXeY JRZ O �OJG]~LO\\���¤]\GIFGL[̀�9J VWWf ���V����������aŶbdW������������̂ b̂ �̂���������aŶbdW� _̂cVdcŴWe� YaX_fhi�gi������oo���y�����o vwxvxh �����������h|�g������������h|hh������������h|�g�VWVXee JRZ O �[T~\TH XadY ���V����������XdfbWW������������̂ b̂ �̂���������XdfbWW� _̂cVdcŴWe� YaX_f������������¢� ����h�v��hv���������x�z|gg������������h|hh����������x�z|gg�VWVXe_ JRZ O 9IF�]�TIO@GH V ���V����������X̂Vba_������������̂ b̂ �̂���������X̂Vba_� _̂cVdcŴWe� YaX_f�y����j������o��£�j� hi�z�hhhxhvwz���������xhv|�w������������h|hh����������xhv|�w�VWVXea JRZ O 9OL[�J]@HDI~JDF]@̀�F@J V ���V��������ỲYV̂ b̂ �̂�����������̂ b̂ �̂�������ỲYV̂ b̂ �̂ _̂cVdcŴWe� YaX_fo������y�������y���y��������� hwvvghgi ��������{�vh|hh������������h|hh���������{�vh|hh�VWVXef JRZ O ZIFH�L]G�I�D V ���V�����������_Xbê������������̂ b̂ �̂����������_Xbê� _̂cVdcŴWe� YaX_f���������y���������j���yoo hwvxghgi ����������wx|ih������������h|hh�����������wx|ih�VWVXed JRZ O �FJRO[\��OR]@[� V ���V�����������VdbVf������������̂ b̂ �̂����������VdbVf� _̂cVdcŴWe� YaX_f�������������� vzhw|h� ����������v�|vz������������h|hh�����������v�|vz�VWVX_̂ JRZ O I�O@���I[T[JJO�[GLF@ V ���V�����������YfbXV������������̂ b̂ �̂����������YfbXV� _̂cVdcŴWe� YaX_f
Page 14 of 60



���������	�
���������������
�������������	����������������������������� �!"�#�$������%& 	���������''()���**+$,-����$.�#����'�!�$�����,��/*�-*$0��+1+*2+�!�2��3���������*��+($/)�	*�*-1��4�'�567�8��&69:;<=>?@A<B=C D;E= FG @:<= HIJ @A<F@K LCMNNO<MA>? GPNQMA>?N @=?9:; 9:;<=>?G:?= R9KMPS T:?QUVWXYXWZ�[\]V̂_ àb̀cde ����������fgc̀h������������dcdd�����������fgc̀h�ijikli JRm O JOInoH�IoTpIDo�JOHDFnno i ���i�����������qrstt������������tstt�����������qrstt�tluivujtjr� wqklx[\]V̂_�y�z{\[|}Z�~eW[~fe �hb~e ����������becdd������������dcdd�����������becdd�ijiklj JRm O FIo@��o�@DOF@ i ���i�����������wrskl������������tstt�����������wrskl�tluivujtjr� wqklxVWXYXWZ�[\]V̂_ �~~fcdh} ����������fec̀�������������dcdd�����������fec̀��ijiklk JRm O ��DJR�LoKpI@�p@D�IpnODFo@H�nnJrlri ���i��������i�rttstt������������tstt��������i�rttstt�tluivujtjr� wqklxd��~e�|[z]\��Xẑ}Y��{��c d�de~d~e �������h�eddcdd������������dcdd��������h�eddcdd�ijiklw JRm O @FJonpDDF��nODpI�OHHoJFODpH wlvx ���i�����������vrstt������������tstt�����������vrstt�tluivujtjr� wqklx|_��zV̂�\YX̂���\��Xẑ b̀�b ����������aecdd������������dcdd�����������aecdd�ijiklr JRm O @9L�TIoOGJOHD wllk ���i��������i�ittstt������������tstt��������i�ittstt�tluivujtjr� wqklxde�~e��\}W�\[��}�\[} bh�̀~�ye �������h�hddcdd������������dcdd��������h�hddcdd�ijikll JRm O oJJ�9ODFo@On�RpOnDR�Jp@DpIH�o�rktt ���j����������rwjstt������������tstt����������rwjstt�tluivujtjr� wqklx|[\y\�|YzZ�\̂W�y���[\\̂ hg̀ h̀àf ���������~bhcdd������������dcdd����������~bhcdd�|[\y\�|YzZ�\̂W�W\�WX̂� hg̀e~�eh ���������~bhcdd������������dcdd����������~bhcdd�ijiklq JRm O Ioo�JIO�D��nnJ rrvt ���i��������j�rttstt������������tstt��������j�rttstt�tluivujtjr� wqklx�VWW\[�[\|}X[�y�V|�� X̂{�~d~e�ddhfa�������~�eddcdd������������dcdd��������~�eddcdd�ijiklx JRm O HpJ�IFDOH�DpJR@onoL��JoI9oIODFwtwj ���i����������kvxsxj������������tstt����������kvxsxj�tluivujtjr� wqklxdb�~e��ẑXWz[X̂� �ddehd̀gfg���������̀agcg~������������dcdd����������̀agcg~�ijiklv JRm O HmOLLH�Jo�9O@FpH��F@J lkr ���k�����������ivstt������������tstt�����������ivstt�tluivujtjr� wqklx�[\_XW hdd�}�~bèdd����������hdcddy�����������dcdd�����������hdcddy�[\_XW hdd�}�~g~̀a��hh�����������acddy�����������dcdd������������acddyV̂X]z[��y��||_ hdd�}�~ahàa�h����������agcdd������������dcdd�����������agcdd�ijikqt JRm O DGH�TIoOGTO@G�nnJ rkkr ���j��������j�jjxslk������������tstt��������j�jjxslk�tluivujtjr� wqklxd��~e���}[�\��y�|_ de~e~d~e� �������~�hd~ced������������dcdd��������~�hd~ced�d��~e���}[�\��y��X_Y}̂_�}{\ d�d�~d~e ���������h~�ch̀������������dcdd����������h~�ch̀�ijikqi JRm O �HO�Tn�pToom rwqi ���k����������xwrswv������������tstt����������xwrswv�tluivujtjr� wqklx|Vd�| X̂{ddb̀ èfd���������̀ f̀cae������������dcdd����������̀ f̀cae�]Yz}W���XW�� X̂{ddb̀ebef���������ehdcef������������dcdd����������ff̀cbf�]Yz}W���XW�� X̂{ddb̀ebef���������ehdcef������������dcdd�������������cgd�ijikqj JRm O �FnHo@��FnnFO�H�nn9 rjxq ���i�������ik�kitsvi������������tstt�������ik�kitsvi�tluivujtjr� wqklxde�~e�Y\�}Y�\�|\̂�\ h�ae ������h̀ �̀hdcah������������dcdd�������h̀ �̀hdcah�ijikqk JRm O �ooGnO@G�9OIm�JRO�TpI�Jo��pIJplxx ���i����������rwrstt������������tstt����������rwrstt�tluivujtjr� wqklxdb�~eyd��~��|}[Ŵ\[�X̂{\�W�\̂W~fa�a ���������efecdd������������dcdd����������efecdd�ivr p�D O DIOJDoI�H�99n��Jo�9O@� wqrk ���i����������ivvsvt������������tstt����������ivvsvt�tlujwujtjrR9 wqjwk�����~d~e�W������������� d�~f~d~e ���������haacad������������dcdd����������haacad�ijikqw JRm O O@Do@FO�IO�FIp� rqtk ���i����������jilstt������������tstt����������jilstt�tlujlujtjr� wqkxl�\W�V|��Y\}̂�V|�y�V|�� d�he~d~e ���������~h�cdd������������dcdd����������~h�cdd�ijikqr JRm O O9p���OHDp�H�HDp�H rllw ���j����������jkrskx������������tstt����������jkrskx�tlujlujtjr� wqkxld��~e���}[�\�y�\}_z�zz_ fef̀ae ���������hhecdd������������dcdd����������hhecdd�_\\[�_X�|z�}Y febghg ���������h~dc̀g������������dcdd����������h~dc̀g�
Page 15 of 60



���������	�
���������������
�������������	����������������������������� �!"�#�$������%& 	����'�����''()���**+$,-����$.�#����'�!�$�����,��/*�-*$0��+1+*2+�!�2��3���������*��+($/)�	*�*-1��4�'�567�8��&69:;<=>?@A<B=C D;E= FG @:<= HIJ @A<F@K LCMNNO<MA>? GPNQMA>?N @=?9:; 9:;<=>?G:?= R9KMPS T:?QUVWVXYZ JR[ O TOGL\I�]\D\I�F@J ŴY_ ���V��������V̀XaVbYZ������������abaa��������V̀XaVbYZ�aZcWZcWaWd� ŶX_Zefgfhi jklmnoj �������jplqjrkm������������qrqq��������jplqjrkm�VWVXYY JR[ O TsOJ[�RFssH�\@\ILt âXd ���_�������VV̀WWVbdW������������abaa�������VV̀WWVbdW�aZcWZcWaWd� ŶX_Zqounqno�vwxhyfi qmjmnqno �������mpomorzn������������qrqq��������np{nqrjl�qounqno�vwxhyfi qmjmnqno �������mpomorzn������������qrqq��������lpoz|rol�qounqno�vwxhyfi qmjmnqno �������mpomorzn������������qrqq����������nlnrn{�qounqno�vwxhyfi qmjmnqno �������mpomorzn������������qrqq����������lnlr|n�qmunqno�vwxhyfi kjqnqno �������{pmoorkq������������qrqq��������npnkzrko�qmunqno�vwxhyfi kjqnqno �������{pmoorkq������������qrqq����������{|jrkn�qmunqno�vwxhyfi kjqnqno �������{pmoorkq������������qrqq����������nnornk�qmunqno�vwxhyfi kjqnqno �������{pmoorkq������������qrqq��������jpmo|r|m�VWVXY_ JR[ O T}IsO9�TOL�Js~DRF@LcT~~DH VXdZ ���W����������daXbda������������abaa����������daXbda�aZcWZcWaWd� ŶX_Z�����he�����hh�i no�jookn ���������n|jrmo������������qrqq����������n|jrmo������he���yx�x���� no�jookl ���������njjrzo������������qrqq����������njjrzo�VWVXY� JR[ O JOH\ss\�F@J WXdZ ���W����������YV̂baa������������abaa����������YV̂baa�aZcWZcWaWd� ŶX_Zqkuno�v��ghxvg ����qkn|m ���������kj{rqq������������qrqq����������n{|r|q�qkuno�v��ghxvg ����qkn|m ���������kj{rqq������������qrqq����������{m{rjq�VWVX_a JR[ O JF@DOH�J~I9~IODF~@�@~�W �̂YY ���V����������VYWbWV������������abaa����������VYWbWV�aZcWZcWaWd� ŶX_Z�����he�����ffg {nl{nmql{z���������jknrnj������������qrqq����������jknrnj�VWVX_V JR[ O J~s~IOG~�O@OstDFJOs�sOT âW_ ���V�����������V_baa������������abaa�����������V_baa�aZcWZcWaWd� ŶX_Z�x��ifh��vfi noqmjnjnn ����������jzrqq������������qrqq�����������jzrqq�VWVX_W JR[ O GOK\�ROsD\I d̂ Ŵ ���V����������̂Vdbaa������������abaa����������̂Vdbaa�aZcWZcWaWd� ŶX_Zhf�x�h�����fh��f��i�igfei qmnqnqno ���������{jorqq������������qrqq����������{jorqq�VWVX_X JR[ O [OFG\@�[\@t~@ dZdY ���V�����������YWbaa������������abaa�����������YWbaa�aZcWZcWaWd� ŶX_Zifg���uv�fx���������vv qmjonqno ����������knrqq������������qrqq�����������knrqq�VWVX_̂ JR[ O s~LO@�HF]9H~@�G\HFL@�F@J dW_W ���V�������Và_Ydb̂ �̂�����������abaa�������Và_Ydb̂ �̂aZcWZcWaWd� ŶX_Z���������������e���������� lkjmq ������jqpzkor{{������������qrqq�������jqpzkor{{�VWVX_d JR[ O ]JJO@Gs\HH�DI}J[�J\@D\I�ssJ WY�W ���W����������VdXb̂W������������abaa����������VdXb̂W�aZcWZcWaWd� ŶX_Z�hx�f�iw�fuv�hf �jqljl|oqq�qj���������no{rnn������������qrqq����������no{rnn�vhf��g���v�hf�hfg�h� �jqljl|onl�qj���������jqqrzq������������qrqq����������jqqrzq�VWVX_Z JR[ O @~IDR�\HD�9OI[�Ot�ssJ V ���V������������_baa������������abaa������������_baa�aZcWZcWaWd� ŶX_Zg����vwxhyf�����g� jolkkqn{ �����������zrqq������������qrqq������������zrqq�VWVX_Y JR[ O HO]O@DRO�[\ss\t V ���V�����������V_b_d������������abaa�����������V_b_d�aZcWZcWaWd� ŶX_Z�g���g��hf���� nq{{rql ����������jzrzo������������qrqq�����������jzrzo�VWVX__ JR[ O JIOFL�H�9~�\I�\�}F9]\@D�ssJ V ���V����������XW�bYa������������abaa����������XW�bYa�aZcWZcWaWd� ŶX_Z�xhgiuhf�x�h n{qn|n ���������ln|rkq������������qrqq����������ln|rkq�VWVX_� JR[ O @~IDR\I@�HO�\Dt��F@G}HDIFOs�J~ ŴVY ���V����������̂VWb̂a������������abaa����������̂VWb̂a�aZcWZcWaWd� ŶX_Zix�fg���figi |qm|onokl ���������{jnr{q������������qrqq����������{jnr{q�VWVX�a JR[ O 9F@t~@�\@KFI~]\@DOs̀�F@J dZ�� ���V��������̂ V̀Z_bad������������abaa��������̂ V̀Z_bad�aZcWZcWaWd� ŶX_Zx��������f�x lqk|n{ �������{pjmzrqo������������qrqq��������{pjmzrqo�VWVX�V JR[ O 9F~@\\I�ODRs\DFJH���]D9 WZW_ ���V��������V̀ZW_baa������������abaa��������V̀ZW_baa�aZcWZcWaWd� ŶX_Z
Page 16 of 60



���������	�
���������������
�������������	����������������������������� �!"�#�$������%& 	����''����''()���**+$,-����$.�#����'�!�$�����,��/*�-*$0��+1+*2+�!�2��3���������*��+($/)�	*�*-1��4�'�567�8��&69:;<=>?@A<B=C D;E= FG @:<= HIJ @A<F@K LCMNNO<MA>? GPNQMA>?N @=?9:; 9:;<=>?G:?= R9KMPS T:?QUVWXVYZ[X�\]̂V_V̂ [̀ [abcdefdgh�������hijdgkll������������lkll��������hijdgkll�mnmopn JRq O IrsH9rJ�F@Jt uvmw ���m�������mvxyzwty{������������{t{{�������mvxyzwty{�{zsnzsn{ny� uwovzV|}~|�����������\�|��̂}~�_�� [abledel�ef������hgiej�kel������������lkll�������hgiej�kel�mnmopo JRq O HJR�FGD�J�@HDI�JDF�@ yyp ���n��������mxopptn{������������{t{{��������mxopptn{�{zsnzsn{ny� uwovz�̂��̂ X̀�c��X fllelj� �������hilddkdl������������lkll��������hilddkdl��̂��̂ X̀ flle��d ���������f��kll������������lkll����������f��kll�mnmopu JRq O HJR�F@L�TF�HrD ynnz ���m�������m{xwvntyp������������{t{{�������m{xwvntyp�{zsnzsn{ny� uwovzW�][��WaX�c���X� jh�fgj�g ������hli�gdke�������������lkll�������hli�gdke��mnmopy JRq O HRrI�F@����F��FO�H mvp{ ���m����������nuutpo������������{t{{����������nuutpo�{zsnzsn{ny� uwovz�̂[aX��]��̀[W��c��[X���̂ `̀ gdj�cj ���������d��k�f������������lkll����������d��k�f�mnmopz JRq O HFDr�@r��O@GHJO9r�H�99�� ynvu ���m��������nxy{ytpm������������{t{{��������nxy{ytpm�{zsnzsn{ny� uwovz\V̂a[XW�_Ẁ[bWV� heehllfj�cllh�������dielek�h������������lkll��������dielek�h�mnmopw JRq O H@���RFDr��F@r@����@F��I�x�F@Jyvm ���m�����������zmtvm������������{t{{�����������zmtvm�{zsnzsn{ny� uwovzWbWaX�W��Wa�W �ldeel�h ����������jhkgh������������lkll�����������jhkgh�mnmopv JRq O H��DRrI@�L�O�rI�H��F@r���H9FIFnv{y ���m����������y{ptz{������������{t{{����������y{ptz{�{zsnzsn{ny� uwovz[̀�]YV�_Ẁ[bWV� f���d�e ���������el�kjl������������lkll����������el�kjl�mnmopp JRq O HDO@GOIG�F@H�IO@Jr�J��9O@� m{pm ���m��������nxoyptyu������������{t{{��������nxoyptyu�{zsnzsn{ny� uwovzl��de��X_���̀X_ ljhjdlde �������dife�ke�������������lkll��������dife�ke��mnmu{{ JRq O IrG�TOI�@�JOI��OHR umpm ���n����������wwvt{{������������{t{{����������wwvt{{�{zsnzsn{ny� uwovzle�de���̂V\W� d�hh �����������gkll������������lkll������������hkll�le�de���̂V\W� d�hh �����������gkll������������lkll�������������kll�mnmu{m JRq O DGH�TI�OGTO@G���J yooy ���m����������m{ntuy������������{t{{����������m{ntuy�{zsnzsn{ny� uwovzl��de���̂V\W� ljhfdlde ���������hldk�e������������lkll����������hldk�e�mnmu{n JRq O DRr�DIO@H�ODF�@���F@DrI9rDF@L�yyuo ���m����������wymtn{������������{t{{����������wymtn{�{zsnzsn{ny� uwovz[aXWWV�VWX[a\��b��k hg�j� ����������ehkdl������������lkll�����������ehkdl�mnmu{o JRq O �@JJ��DF�FD��@�DF�FJODF�@�J@DIn{mn ���n����������noptym������������{t{{����������noptym�{zsnzsn{ny� uwovz]X[̀[X��̀Y�̂XW� ddel�he�j ���������df�keh������������lkll����������heekj��]X[̀[X��̀Y�̂XW� ddel�he�j ���������df�keh������������lkll�����������gfkg��mnmu{u JRq O �O Fr�HO@FDOI��H�99�� umvp ���n����������vnwtzu������������{t{{����������vnwtzu�{zsnzsn{ny� uwovz�]�XY_[̂ �̀�]��̀[W��c��̂� gfd�g��j ���������e�jkfl������������lkll����������e�jkfl��]�XY_[̂ �̀�]��̀[W��c��̂� gfd��lfe ���������dehkf�������������lkll����������dehkf��mnmu{y JRq O  rI� �T�HF@rHH�H���DF�@H�H��DRyooz ���m��������mxzovtou������������{t{{��������mxzovtou�{zsnzsn{ny� uwovzlj�decl��de���̂V\W� [ae�l��dh �������hijfgkf�������������lkll��������hijfgkf��VW\[�XWV�XYX̂ �̀ �¡|�¢}£�hg� b�¤¥}£�l �������d��������je�ihflkee������������lkll������je�ihflkee�
Page 17 of 60



Payment Number Position Num Inv Gross Amount Discounts Net Pay Payment Date

19589 Bartender 1 267.30                20.45             246.85           6/13/2025

19590 Lifeguard 1 71.37                  5.45                65.92             6/13/2025

19591 Program Coordinator 1 961.20                144.59           816.61           6/13/2025

19592 Lifeguard 1 692.37                86.51             605.86           6/13/2025

19593 Seasonal MW I 1 825.00                115.92           709.08           6/13/2025

19594 Sports Official 1 470.00                39.95             430.05           6/13/2025

19595 Lifeguard 1 681.26                88.55             592.71           6/13/2025

19596 Lifeguard 1 124.40                9.52                114.88           6/13/2025

19597 Lifeguard 1 117.23                8.97                108.26           6/13/2025

19598 Lifeguard 1 777.53                105.54           671.99           6/13/2025

19599 Accounting Director 1 2,211.48            451.05           1,760.43        6/13/2025

19600 Maint. Worker I ‐ PBG 1 2,247.01            640.03           1,606.98        6/13/2025

19601 Seasonal MW I 1 1,065.00            168.87           896.13           6/13/2025

19602 Lifeguard 1 65.88                  5.05                60.83             6/27/2025

19603 Seasonal MW I 1 480.00                49.72             430.28           6/27/2025

19604 Sports Official 1 756.00                73.84             682.16           6/27/2025

19605 WWTO 1 968.26                151.20           817.06           6/27/2025

19606 Lifeguard 1 225.85                18.27             207.58           6/27/2025

19607 Lifeguard 1 558.77                58.75             500.02           6/27/2025

19608 Lifeguard 1 807.15                111.77           695.38           6/27/2025

19609 Maint. Worker I ‐ PBG 1 2,192.21            624.84           1,567.37        6/27/2025

19610 Lifeguard 1 188.83                14.45             174.38           6/27/2025

58877 WWTO 1 2,366.35            589.66           1,776.69        6/13/2025

58878 Fleet Mechanic I 1 2,481.70            802.56           1,679.14        6/13/2025

58879 MWI 1 1,812.00            424.38           1,387.62        6/13/2025

58880 Permit Technician 1 1,973.74            566.26           1,407.48        6/13/2025

58881 Fitness Instructor 1 63.11                  4.83                58.28             6/13/2025

58882 Captain 1 4,191.65            1,258.30        2,933.35        6/13/2025

58883 Lifeguard 1 118.48                9.06                109.42           6/13/2025

58884 Lifeguard 1 759.01                101.27           657.74           6/13/2025

58885 Lifeguard 1 125.89                9.63                116.26           6/13/2025

58886 Evidence Technician 1 2,236.80            584.23           1,652.57        6/13/2025

58887 Water Fitness Instruct 1 296.46                22.68             273.78           6/13/2025

58888 WTO 1 3,112.63            881.72           2,230.91        6/13/2025

58889 Utility Billing Techni 1 2,508.38            656.15           1,852.23        6/13/2025

58890 Planner II 1 3,406.28            1,094.81        2,311.47        6/13/2025

58891 Budget Director 1 4,536.15            1,142.89        3,393.26        6/13/2025

58892 Crew Chief‐Operators 1 4,347.92            1,093.02        3,254.90        6/13/2025

58893 Water Fitness Instruct 1 445.55                37.09             408.46           6/13/2025

58894 Lifeguard 1 840.47                119.65           720.82           6/13/2025

58895 Event Center Coordinat 1 2,280.77            668.81           1,611.96        6/13/2025

58896 Assistant Aquatics Manager 1 2,142.40            522.09           1,620.31        6/13/2025

58897 POI 1 2,662.20            559.55           2,102.65        6/13/2025

58898 Dispatcher 1 2,127.49            701.15           1,426.34        6/13/2025

58899 MUNICIPAL COURT CLERK 1 1,801.28            386.23           1,415.05        6/13/2025

58900 Head Lifeguard 1 520.93                91.92             429.01           6/13/2025

58901 MWII 1 2,043.44            509.88           1,533.56        6/13/2025

58902 Police Officer II 1 3,346.25            644.52           2,701.73        6/13/2025

58903 Lieutenant 1 3,976.94            822.54           3,154.40        6/13/2025

58904 MWI  1 1,986.65            522.92           1,463.73        6/13/2025

58905 Dispatcher II 1 2,692.17            907.86           1,784.31        6/13/2025

Bank Number: 99 / Name: VECTRA BANK COLORADO/PAYROLL / Description: PAYROLL ACCOUNT

Page 1 Payroll‐June 2025

Page 18 of 60



Payment Number Position Num Inv Gross Amount Discounts Net Pay Payment Date

Bank Number: 99 / Name: VECTRA BANK COLORADO/PAYROLL / Description: PAYROLL ACCOUNT

58906 Operator III 1 4,274.07            1,119.51        3,154.56        6/13/2025

58907 Chief of Police 1 6,207.48            1,902.75        4,304.73        6/13/2025

58908 Code Enforcement Officer 1 2,469.36            602.77           1,866.59        6/13/2025

58909 Operator I 1 2,035.20            449.54           1,585.66        6/13/2025

58910 WW Plant Operator 1 4,526.40            1,124.76        3,401.64        6/13/2025

58911 Police Officer I 1 3,563.28            1,087.54        2,475.74        6/13/2025

58912 MWI  1 2,168.60            354.17           1,814.43        6/13/2025

58913 Lifeguard 1 37.03                  2.84                34.19             6/13/2025

58914 Lifeguard 1 62.20                  4.76                57.44             6/13/2025

58915 Assistant City Manager 1 4,954.38            1,410.73        3,543.65        6/13/2025

58916 PT Snow Plow 1 1,512.64            251.61           1,261.03        6/13/2025

58917 Head Lifeguard 1 970.94                147.68           823.26           6/13/2025

58918 Senior Planner 1 3,653.40            1,156.43        2,496.97        6/13/2025

58919 Scorekeeper 1 210.00                16.06             193.94           6/13/2025

58920 Scorekeeper 1 285.00                25.81             259.19           6/13/2025

58921 Lifeguard 1 544.27                56.65             487.62           6/13/2025

58922 Swim Instructor 1 23.45                  1.79                21.66             6/13/2025

58923 Dispatcher I 1 2,373.79            869.80           1,503.99        6/13/2025

58924 Communications Manager 1 3,467.79            881.67           2,586.12        6/13/2025

58925 Finance Admin. Asst./C 1 2,220.17            512.68           1,707.49        6/13/2025

58926 Dispatcher II 1 2,486.50            573.09           1,913.41        6/13/2025

58927 HR Director 1 4,682.71            1,619.34        3,063.37        6/13/2025

58928 Police Officer II 1 3,591.79            816.06           2,775.73        6/13/2025

58929 POI 1 2,659.72            554.26           2,105.46        6/13/2025

58930 Utilities Assistant 1 1,685.60            545.45           1,140.15        6/13/2025

58931 MWI  1 2,168.60            463.44           1,705.16        6/13/2025

58932 Parks and Rec Director 1 5,170.38            1,599.98        3,570.40        6/13/2025

58933 WWTO 1 2,388.88            512.47           1,876.41        6/13/2025

58934 Head Lifeguard 1 2,095.62            537.59           1,558.03        6/13/2025

58935 Lifeguard 1 514.65                53.37             461.28           6/13/2025

58936 Associate Project Manager 1 3,611.89            1,347.91        2,263.98        6/13/2025

58937 Operator II 1 3,092.05            690.68           2,401.37        6/13/2025

58938 Dispatcher I 1 1,790.95            492.81           1,298.14        6/13/2025

58939 POIII 1 4,284.54            1,074.11        3,210.43        6/13/2025

58940 Deputy City Manager 1 6,463.61            3,555.70        2,907.91        6/13/2025

58941 Lifeguard 1 668.70                81.32             587.38           6/13/2025

58942 Lifeguard 1 565.35                59.24             506.11           6/13/2025

58943 Dispatcher II 1 3,205.85            839.54           2,366.31        6/13/2025

58944 WWTO 1 2,575.20            925.01           1,650.19        6/13/2025

58945 PO I 1 2,903.76            652.84           2,250.92        6/13/2025

58946 MWI 1 1,811.65            288.17           1,523.48        6/13/2025

58947 POIII 1 3,236.52            861.19           2,375.33        6/13/2025

58948 Lifeguard 1 292.50                26.38             266.12           6/13/2025

58949 Lifeguard 1 394.06                39.14             354.92           6/13/2025

58950 Presiding Municipal Co 1 1,017.17            125.23           891.94           6/13/2025

58951 Lifeguard 1 77.75                  5.95                71.80             6/13/2025

58952 Lifeguard 1 499.84                52.24             447.60           6/13/2025

58953 Lifeguard 1 282.27                25.59             256.68           6/13/2025

58954 Lifeguard 1 255.47                22.54             232.93           6/13/2025

58955 Lifeguard 1 285.09                25.81             259.28           6/13/2025

58956 Sports Official 1 100.00                7.65                92.35             6/13/2025

Page 2 Payroll‐June 2025

Page 19 of 60



Payment Number Position Num Inv Gross Amount Discounts Net Pay Payment Date

Bank Number: 99 / Name: VECTRA BANK COLORADO/PAYROLL / Description: PAYROLL ACCOUNT

58957 Lifeguard 1 322.12                30.64             291.48           6/13/2025

58958 Fleet Mechanic I 1 2,398.19            746.12           1,652.07        6/13/2025

58959 MWII Streets 1 2,294.36            479.15           1,815.21        6/13/2025

58960 Superintendent 1 3,876.00            1,286.59        2,589.41        6/13/2025

58961 Operator 1 1,356.88            239.22           1,117.66        6/13/2025

58962 Lifeguard 1 1,152.00            189.98           962.02           6/13/2025

58963 Sergeant 1 3,236.13            801.35           2,434.78        6/13/2025

58964 Police Officer I 1 ‐                      ‐                  ‐                  6/13/2025

58965 Budget Analyst 1 2,300.00            670.15           1,629.85        6/13/2025

58966 Lifeguard 1 93.44                  7.15                86.29             6/13/2025

58967 Dispatcher 1 2,089.27            719.64           1,369.63        6/13/2025

58968 Deputy City Clerk 1 2,429.18            491.24           1,937.94        6/13/2025

58969 Planning Director 1 5,170.38            2,502.95        2,667.43        6/13/2025

58970 Seasonal MW I 1 640.00                75.27             564.73           6/13/2025

58971 Head Lifeguard 1 954.86                144.83           810.03           6/13/2025

58972 Systems Admin 1 2,744.70            621.30           2,123.40        6/13/2025

58973 Operator 1 2,892.67            486.75           2,405.92        6/13/2025

58974 Operator 1 2,698.62            659.37           2,039.25        6/13/2025

58975 Utilities Technician 1 2,086.08            519.37           1,566.71        6/13/2025

58976 Operator 1 2,294.36            561.51           1,732.85        6/13/2025

58977 PT WWTO 1 12,569.61          3,481.44        9,088.17        6/13/2025

58978 GSI Tech 1 2,547.20            717.06           1,830.14        6/13/2025

58979 Lifeguard 1 777.53                105.54           671.99           6/13/2025

58980 Sales Tax Accountant 1 2,047.92            549.72           1,498.20        6/13/2025

58981 Head Lifeguard 1 733.74                112.35           621.39           6/13/2025

58982 PT WWTO 1 303.60                23.22             280.38           6/13/2025

58983 Fleet Crew Chief 1 3,274.51            1,132.86        2,141.65        6/13/2025

58984 PO II 1 2,989.20            816.51           2,172.69        6/13/2025

58985 Lifeguard 1 384.00                37.38             346.62           6/13/2025

58986 Lifeguard 1 480.00                49.72             430.28           6/13/2025

58987 General Ledger Accountant 1 2,678.39            684.19           1,994.20        6/13/2025

58988 Support Servcs Manager 1 3,620.88            1,093.83        2,527.05        6/13/2025

58989 Police Officer I 1 3,084.54            821.90           2,262.64        6/13/2025

58990 Lifeguard 1 777.53                105.53           672.00           6/13/2025

58991 Crew Chief ‐ PBG 1 3,286.99            927.65           2,359.34        6/13/2025

58992 City Manager 1 8,878.84            2,765.40        6,113.44        6/13/2025

58993 Administrative Assistant 1 1,813.84            424.82           1,389.02        6/13/2025

58994 Sergeant 1 3,431.45            869.43           2,562.02        6/13/2025

58995 PT Meter Reader 1 1,025.08            210.23           814.85           6/13/2025

58996 IT Intern 1 1,241.82            211.61           1,030.21        6/13/2025

58997 Aquatic Manager 1 3,449.51            1,111.99        2,337.52        6/13/2025

58998 Lifeguard 1 122.18                9.34                112.84           6/13/2025

58999 Lifeguard 1 1,184.80            198.40           986.40           6/13/2025

59000 Utilities Director 1 6,207.64            2,747.94        3,459.70        6/13/2025

59001 Lifeguard 1 1,512.24            276.75           1,235.49        6/13/2025

59002 Seasonal MW I 1 496.00                50.94             445.06           6/13/2025

59003 Seasonal MW I 1 256.00                22.58             233.42           6/13/2025

59004 Sport Site Supervisor 1 371.00                36.39             334.61           6/13/2025

59005 Front Desk Representative 1 201.28                15.40             185.88           6/13/2025

59006 WWTO 1 2,216.73            571.22           1,645.51        6/27/2025

59007 Fleet Mechanic I 1 2,481.70            802.56           1,679.14        6/27/2025

Page 3 Payroll‐June 2025

Page 20 of 60



Payment Number Position Num Inv Gross Amount Discounts Net Pay Payment Date

Bank Number: 99 / Name: VECTRA BANK COLORADO/PAYROLL / Description: PAYROLL ACCOUNT

59008 MWI 1 1,812.00            424.37           1,387.63        6/27/2025

59009 Permit Technician 1 1,973.74            566.27           1,407.47        6/27/2025

59010 Fitness Instructor 1 57.38                  4.39                52.99             6/27/2025

59011 Captain 1 4,191.65            1,258.31        2,933.34        6/27/2025

59012 Lifeguard 1 114.78                8.79                105.99           6/27/2025

59013 Lifeguard 1 399.25                39.55             359.70           6/27/2025

59014 Lifeguard 1 536.86                56.07             480.79           6/27/2025

59015 Lifeguard 1 855.25                122.26           732.99           6/27/2025

59016 Evidence Technician 1 2,404.56            624.21           1,780.35        6/27/2025

59017 Water Fitness Instruct 1 247.05                18.90             228.15           6/27/2025

59018 WTO 1 2,538.64            743.93           1,794.71        6/27/2025

59019 Utility Billing Techni 1 2,508.38            656.14           1,852.24        6/27/2025

59020 Planner II 1 3,406.28            1,094.82        2,311.46        6/27/2025

59021 Budget DIrector 1 4,361.15            1,100.48        3,260.67        6/27/2025

59022 Crew Chief‐Operators 1 3,746.87            947.92           2,798.95        6/27/2025

59023 Water Fitness Instruct 1 598.50                54.77             543.73           6/27/2025

59024 Lifeguard 1 862.68                124.58           738.10           6/27/2025

59025 Event Center Coordinat 1 2,211.64            651.02           1,560.62        6/27/2025

59026 Assistant Aquatics Manager 1 2,142.40            522.10           1,620.30        6/27/2025

59027 POI 1 2,632.62            581.74           2,050.88        6/27/2025

59028 Lifeguard 1 2,002.34            684.32           1,318.02        6/27/2025

59029 MUNICIPAL COURT CLERK 1 1,830.18            392.92           1,437.26        6/27/2025

59030 Head Lifeguard 1 622.00                109.18           512.82           6/27/2025

59031 MWII 1 2,348.71            581.68           1,767.03        6/27/2025

59032 Police Officer II 1 2,265.25            390.35           1,874.90        6/27/2025

59033 Lieutenant 1 3,801.94            791.00           3,010.94        6/27/2025

59034 MWI  1 2,168.39            566.64           1,601.75        6/27/2025

59035 Dispatcher II 1 2,504.37            862.95           1,641.42        6/27/2025

59036 Chief of Police 1 6,207.48            1,902.74        4,304.74        6/27/2025

59037 Code Enforcement Officer 1 2,294.36            560.39           1,733.97        6/27/2025

59038 Operator I 1 2,056.71            454.76           1,601.95        6/27/2025

59039 WW Plant Operator 1 4,526.40            1,124.78        3,401.62        6/27/2025

59040 Police Officer I 1 3,726.90            1,116.55        2,610.35        6/27/2025

59041 Bartender 1 111.54                8.54                103.00           6/27/2025

59042 Lifeguard 1 271.20                23.74             247.46           6/27/2025

59043 MWI  1 1,993.60            318.19           1,675.41        6/27/2025

59044 Assistant City Manager 1 4,779.38            1,350.83        3,428.55        6/27/2025

59045 PT Snow Plow 1 1,512.64            251.59           1,261.05        6/27/2025

59046 Head Lifeguard 1 211.25                17.16             194.09           6/27/2025

59047 Senior Planner 1 3,653.40            1,156.43        2,496.97        6/27/2025

59048 Scorekeeper 1 190.00                14.53             175.47           6/27/2025

59049 Lifeguard 1 847.87                120.94           726.93           6/27/2025

59050 Swim Instructor 1 160.21                12.26             147.95           6/27/2025

59051 Program Coordinator 1 1,922.40            373.42           1,548.98        6/27/2025

59052 Dispatcher I 1 2,733.84            953.02           1,780.82        6/27/2025

59053 Communications Manager 1 4,111.74            977.54           3,134.20        6/27/2025

59054 Lifeguard 1 733.10                95.70             637.40           6/27/2025

59055 Finance Admin. Asst./C 1 2,152.89            493.50           1,659.39        6/27/2025

59056 Dispatcher II 1 2,340.25            550.22           1,790.03        6/27/2025

59057 HR Director 1 4,682.71            1,619.34        3,063.37        6/27/2025

59058 Police Officer II 1 3,064.42            717.64           2,346.78        6/27/2025

Page 4 Payroll‐June 2025

Page 21 of 60



Payment Number Position Num Inv Gross Amount Discounts Net Pay Payment Date

Bank Number: 99 / Name: VECTRA BANK COLORADO/PAYROLL / Description: PAYROLL ACCOUNT

59059 POI 1 2,484.72            522.72           1,962.00        6/27/2025

59060 Utilities Assistant 1 1,685.60            545.45           1,140.15        6/27/2025

59061 MWI  1 1,993.60            424.55           1,569.05        6/27/2025

59062 Parks and Rec Director 1 5,170.38            1,600.00        3,570.38        6/27/2025

59063 Dispatcher 1 2,222.20            472.72           1,749.48        6/27/2025

59064 Head Lifeguard 1 1,851.20            475.51           1,375.69        6/27/2025

59065 Lifeguard 1 251.77                22.26             229.51           6/27/2025

59066 Associate Project Manager 1 3,166.61            1,240.40        1,926.21        6/27/2025

59067 Operator II 1 2,645.60            582.93           2,062.67        6/27/2025

59068 Dispatcher I 1 1,685.60            476.39           1,209.21        6/27/2025

59069 POIII 1 4,728.80            1,185.22        3,543.58        6/27/2025

59070 Deputy City Manager 1 6,463.61            3,555.68        2,907.93        6/27/2025

59071 Lifeguard 1 109.43                8.38                101.05           6/27/2025

59072 Lifeguard 1 620.48                70.83             549.65           6/27/2025

59073 Dispatcher II 1 2,970.57            795.23           2,175.34        6/27/2025

59074 WWTO 1 2,575.20            924.99           1,650.21        6/27/2025

59075 PO I 1 2,543.88            616.58           1,927.30        6/27/2025

59076 MWI 1 1,811.65            288.18           1,523.47        6/27/2025

59077 POIII 1 3,236.52            861.19           2,375.33        6/27/2025

59078 Lifeguard 1 873.79                126.53           747.26           6/27/2025

59079 Lifeguard 1 621.56                71.02             550.54           6/27/2025

59080 Presiding Municipal Co 1 1,109.64            145.54           964.10           6/27/2025

59081 Lifeguard 1 485.03                50.10             434.93           6/27/2025

59082 Lifeguard 1 322.12                30.64             291.48           6/27/2025

59083 Lifeguard 1 225.85                18.29             207.56           6/27/2025

59084 Lifeguard 1 29.62                  2.26                27.36             6/27/2025

59085 Lifeguard 1 510.95                53.09             457.86           6/27/2025

59086 Fleet Mechanic I 1 2,398.19            746.12           1,652.07        6/27/2025

59087 MWII Streets 1 2,294.36            479.15           1,815.21        6/27/2025

59088 Superintendent 1 3,876.00            1,286.57        2,589.43        6/27/2025

59089 Operator 1 922.19                137.07           785.12           6/27/2025

59090 Lifeguard 1 768.00                102.85           665.15           6/27/2025

59091 Sergeant 1 4,180.12            1,014.94        3,165.18        6/27/2025

59092 Police Officer I 1 59.16                  5.58                53.58             6/27/2025

59093 Budget Analyst 1 2,300.00            670.14           1,629.86        6/27/2025

59094 Lifeguard 1 295.68                32.57             263.11           6/27/2025

59095 Dispatcher 1 1,989.79            704.83           1,284.96        6/27/2025

59096 Deputy City Clerk 1 2,254.18            469.87           1,784.31        6/27/2025

59097 Sports Coordinator 1 210.36                17.10             193.26           6/27/2025

59098 Planning Director 1 5,170.38            2,502.95        2,667.43        6/27/2025

59099 Seasonal MW I 1 584.00                62.39             521.61           6/27/2025

59100 Accounting Director 1 4,423.08            1,074.93        3,348.15        6/27/2025

59101 Head Lifeguard 1 752.88                100.19           652.69           6/27/2025

59102 Systems Admin 1 2,744.70            621.30           2,123.40        6/27/2025

59103 Operator 1 5,716.34            1,266.11        4,450.23        6/27/2025

59104 Operator 1 2,488.80            608.51           1,880.29        6/27/2025

59105 Utilities Technician 1 2,086.08            519.38           1,566.70        6/27/2025

59106 Operator 1 2,294.36            561.51           1,732.85        6/27/2025

59107 Permit Technician 1 223.04                42.06             180.98           6/27/2025

59108 GSI Tech 1 2,547.20            717.05           1,830.15        6/27/2025

59109 Sales Tax Accountant 1 2,035.20            546.66           1,488.54        6/27/2025

Page 5 Payroll‐June 2025

Page 22 of 60



Payment Number Position Num Inv Gross Amount Discounts Net Pay Payment Date

Bank Number: 99 / Name: VECTRA BANK COLORADO/PAYROLL / Description: PAYROLL ACCOUNT

59110 Head Lifeguard 1 886.60                146.66           739.94           6/27/2025

59111 PT WWTO 1 177.10                13.55             163.55           6/27/2025

59112 Fleet Crew Chief 1 3,274.51            1,132.87        2,141.64        6/27/2025

59113 PO II 1 2,770.70            819.47           1,951.23        6/27/2025

59114 Lifeguard 1 1,056.00            167.10           888.90           6/27/2025

59115 Lifeguard 1 795.00                109.63           685.37           6/27/2025

59116 General Ledger Accountant 1 2,645.32            674.25           1,971.07        6/27/2025

59117 Seasonal MW I 1 1,200.00            201.40           998.60           6/27/2025

59118 Support Servcs Manager 1 3,620.88            1,093.85        2,527.03        6/27/2025

59119 Police Officer I 1 2,909.54            790.36           2,119.18        6/27/2025

59120 Lifeguard 1 454.35                46.76             407.59           6/27/2025

59121 Crew Chief ‐ PBG 1 3,111.99            886.27           2,225.72        6/27/2025

59122 City Manager 1 8,878.84            2,765.40        6,113.44        6/27/2025

59123 Administrative Assistant 1 1,813.84            424.82           1,389.02        6/27/2025

59124 Sergeant 1 3,513.15            892.06           2,621.09        6/27/2025

59125 PT Meter Reader 1 1,004.16            205.54           798.62           6/27/2025

59126 IT Intern 1 1,449.14            261.35           1,187.79        6/27/2025

59127 Aquatic Manager 1 3,366.18            1,088.95        2,277.23        6/27/2025

59128 Lifeguard 1 477.62                49.53             428.09           6/27/2025

59129 Lifeguard 1 1,184.80            198.41           986.39           6/27/2025

59130 Utilities Director 1 6,207.64            2,746.16        3,461.48        6/27/2025

59131 Lifeguard 1 618.11                70.40             547.71           6/27/2025

59132 Seasonal MW I 1 384.00                37.38             346.62           6/27/2025

59133 Seasonal MW I 1 1,280.00            221.12           1,058.88        6/27/2025

59134 Sport Site Supervisor 1 637.50                68.76             568.74           6/27/2025

59135 Front Desk Representative 1 130.24                9.96                120.28           6/27/2025

Totals 572,136.73       154,171.07   417,965.66  

Page 6 Payroll‐June 2025

Page 23 of 60



 

 

 

 

ITEM:  

Monthly Report of Mayor and Council Expenses   

 

The following is a summary of the Mayor and Council Expenses for June 2025. 

 
June 2025           
Description Budget Month Exp YTD Exp Balance % Expended 
Miscellaneous expenses $17,950.00 $0.00 $203.03 $17,746.97 1% 
Training/Travel $11,000.00 $293.96 $293.96 $10,706.04 3% 
Supplies $150.00 $0.00 $164.68 -$14.68 110% 
Meetings/Mileage/Meals $3,000.00 $0.00 $538.21 $2,461.79 18% 
Special Projects $500.00 $0.00 $0.00 $500.00 0% 
Total $32,600.00 $293.96 $1,199.88 $31,400.12 4% 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Meeting Date: July 17th, 2025 
Agenda Item Department Presenter 

 CMO/Finance 
Jessica Scott           

Accounting Director 
 

   

City of Woodland Park 
Staff Report for City Council 

Page 24 of 60



 

 

City of Woodland Park 
 

 
June 19, 2025 at 6:30 PM 

 
 

 

City of Woodland Park  City Council - June 19, 2025 
 

MINUTES 
1. CALL TO ORDER AND ROLL CALL  
Mayor Case called the regularly scheduled City Council Meeting to order at 6:30 PM.  The 
following members of Council were in attendance. 
 
Mayor Case, Mayor Pro-tem Nakai, Councilmember Bryant, Councilmember Geer and 
Councilmember Smith.  Councilmember Jones was absent.   
 
The following staff members were in attendance:  Deputy City Manager/City Clerk Leclercq, 
Assistant City Manager Felts and Communications Manager Higginbotham.  City Manager 
Vassalotti and City Planner Gates appeared via zoom. 
2. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE   
3. CEREMONIES, PRESENTATIONS AND APPOINTMENTS   
  A. Approval of appointments to the Downtown Development Authority (DDA). (A) 

(Presenter Deputy City Manager/City Clerk Leclercq)  
Deputy City Manager/City Clerk Leclercq reviewed the openings on the DDA with the 
Council.  Leclercq shared that she had received two applications.  One application was from 
Saraha Salazar and the other was from John Hughes.  Leclercq shared that both applicants 
were eligible to apply for the positions on the DDA.  Following Council interviews, the 
following motions were made. 
 
Motion:  to appoint Sarah Salazar to the DDA Board.  Nakai/Smith.  Motion carried 3-2 with 
Geer and Bryant voting no. 
Motion:  to appoint John Hugh to the DDA Board.  Geer/Bryant.  Motion carried 5-0. 
 
Following the appointments, Deputy City Manager/City Clerk Leclercq administered the Oath 
of Office to both applicants.   
  B. Oath of Office to new City of Woodland Park Police Officers. 

(Presenter Chief Deisler)  
Chief Deisler administered the Oath of Office to the new police officers at the Woodland Park 
Police Department.  Following the Oath of Offices, Chief Deisler handed out Police 
Department awards. 
  C. Presentation of the inaugural America's Mountain Festival poster. (A) 

(Presenter Mike Perini)  
Mike Perini presented the inaugural America's Mountain Festival poster to Mayor Case. 
4. ADDITIONS, DELETIONS OR CORRECTIONS TO AGENDA   

Page 25 of 60



 

City of Woodland Park  City Council - June 19, 2025 
 

5. CONSENT CALENDAR   
  A. Approval of the June 3, 2025, regularly scheduled City Council Meeting. (A) 

(Presenter Deputy City Manager/City clerk Leclercq)  
Mayor Case introduced the Consent Calendar items and the following motion was made. 
 
Motion:  to approve the June 3, 2025, City Council meeting Minutes and the May 2025 
Statement of Expenditures. Geer/Smith.  Motion carried 5-0. 
  B. Approve the May 2025 Statement of Expenditures and authorize the Mayor to 

sign Warrants in payment thereof. (A) 
(Presenter City Manager Vassalotti)   

6. PUBLIC COMMENT ON ITEMS NOT ON THE AGENDA (1)  
Derek Rodriquez approached Council to ask them to consider appointing someone to the 
Council rather than leaving the seat vacant.  Mr. Rodriquez shared he would be interested in 
filling the position and shared information on himself with the Council. 
7. UNFINISHED BUSINESS 
  (Public Comment may be heard)   
8. ORDINANCES ON INITIAL POSTING 
  (Public comment may be heard)   
  A. Approval of Ordinance No. 1498, Series 2025, on initial posting, an Ordinance 

Granting a Special Use Permit for the Purpose of CORE Electric Cooperative to 
Replace an Existing 63-foot Lattice Communication Tower with a New 120-foot 
Lattice Communication Tower (130 Feet to Top of Appurtenances).  The Subject 
Property is Located in the SE4SE4 Sec. 23 and that Portion of the E2NE4 Sec. 
26 Lying North of Highway 24 in T12S, R69W of the 6th P.M., (5955 Trout Creek 
Road, Woodland Park, CO) in the Agricultural (AG) Zone and set the Public 
Hearing for July 17, 2025. (QJ) (Presenter Senior Planner, CJ Gates)  

City Planner Gates introduced Ordinance No. 1498, Series 2025, on initial posting.  The 
following motion was made. 
 
Motion:  to approve Ordinance No. 1498, Series 2025, on initial posting, an Ordinance 
Granting a Special Use Permit for the Purpose of CORE Electric Cooperative to Replace an 
Existing 63-foot Lattice Communication Tower with a New 120-foot Lattice Communication 
Tower with a New 120-foot Lattice Communication Tower.  The Subject Property is located in 
SE4SE4 Sec. 23 and that portion of the E2NE4 Sec. 26 Lying North of Highway 24 in T12S, 
R69W at the 6th PM in the Agricultural Zone and set the Public Hearing for July 17, 
2025.  Geer/Smith.  Motion carried 5-0. 
9. PUBLIC HEARINGS 
  (Public comment may be heard)    
  A. Approval of a Special Event Liquor License for the Tails and Tunes event to be 

held on July 26, 2025, at the Ute Pass Cultural Center. (QJ). 
(Presenter Deputy City Manager/City Clerk Leclercq)  

Deputy City Manager/City Clerk Leclercq reviewed the application submitted by Tails and 
Tunes for a Special Event Liquor License on July 26, 2025, at the Ute Pass Cultural 
Center.  Following Leclercq's report, Mayor Case opened the public comment portion of the 
public hearing.  There being no public comment, Mayor Case closed the public hearing and 
the following motion was made. 

Page 26 of 60



 

City of Woodland Park  City Council - June 19, 2025 
 

 
Motion:  to approve a Special Event Liquor License for the Tails and Tunes event to be held 
on July 26, 2025, at the Ute Pass Cultural Center. Nakai/Smith.  Motion carried 5-0. 
  B. Approval of Ordinance No. 1497, Series 2025 to amend the 2025 Budget 

Expenditure Appropriations (Budget Supplemental Ordinance). (A) 
(Presenter City Manager Vassalotti)  

City Manager Vassalotti presented Ordinance No. 1497, Series 2025.  There being no 
questions from the Council, Mayor Case opened the public comment portion of the public 
hearing.  There being no public comment, Mayor Case closed the public hearing and the 
following motion was made. 
 
Motion:  to approve Ordinance No. 1497, Series 2025 to amend the 2025 Budget Expenditure 
Appropriations (Budget Supplemental Ordinance).  Geer/Nakai.  Motion carried 5-0. 
10. NEW BUSINESS 
  (Public comment may be heard)  
None. 
11. REPORTS 
  (Public comment not necessary)   
  A. Mayor’s Report  
Mayor Case shared the upcoming events for the next two weeks.  Mayor Case also shared 
that US Congressional representative Brittney Petterson held a Town Hall meeting at the 
Cultural Center. 
  B. Council Reports  
Mayor Pro-tem Nakai shared that there was a Charter Review Committee meeting on July 9 
and information on the Edge Teen Center. 
 
Councilmember Geer shared the upcoming events of Parks and Recration. 
  
  C. City Attorney’s Report  
City attorney Wilson shared that he was looking forward to seeing Council at CML. 
  D. City Manager’s Report  
Deputy City Manager/City Clerk Leclercq asked Council if they would consider canceling the 
July 3, 2025, City Council Meeting.  Council agreed by consensus. 
 
City Manager Vassalotti thanked the crews and the community for planting the flowers this 
past week.   
12. ADJOURNMENT  
There being no further City business, Mayor Case adjourned the City Council Meeting at 7:39 
PM.  
 
 
 Respectfully submitted: 
  

 
 
 

Page 27 of 60



 

City of Woodland Park  City Council - June 19, 2025 
 

 Suzanne Leclercq MMC, City Clerk 
 
APPROVED THIS ____ DAY OF _________, 2025 
  

 
 
 

 Kellie Case, Mayor 
 

Page 28 of 60



 

City Council 
Agenda Item 9.A. 

July 17, 2025 

    
STAFF REPORT  

    
TO: Mayor Case and City Council 
    
FROM: CJ Gates, Senior Planner  
    
DATE: July 17, 2025 
    
SUBJECT: Approval of Ordinance No. 1498, Series 2025, an Ordinance Granting a Special Use 

Permit for the Purpose of CORE Electric Cooperative to Replace an Existing 63-foot 
Lattice Communication Tower with a New 120-foot Lattice Communication Tower 
(130 Feet to Top of Appurtenances). The Subject Property is Located in the SE4SE4 
Sec. 23 and that Portion of the E2NE4 Sec. 26 Lying North of Highway 24 in T12S, 
R69W of the 6th P.M., (5955 Trout Creek Road, Woodland Park, CO) in the 
Agricultural (AG) Zone. (QJ) (Presenter Senior Planner, CJ Gates) 

     
  
BACKGROUND:  See attached detailed report. 
  
RECOMMENDATION:  Approve Ordinance No. 1498, Series 2025, an Ordinance Granting a Special 
Use Permit for the Purpose of CORE Electric Cooperative to Replace an Existing 63-foot Lattice 
Communication Tower with a New 120-foot Lattice Communication Tower (130 Feet to Top of 
Appurtenances). The Subject Property is Located in the SE4SE4 Sec. 23 and that Portion of the 
E2NE4 Sec. 26 Lying North of Highway 24 in T12S, R69W of the 6th P.M., (5955 Trout Creek Road, 
Woodland Park, CO) in the Agricultural (AG) Zone. 
   
ATTACHMENTS: 1. Ordinance 1498, Series 2025 CORE Tower Replacement SUP 

2. CORE Communications Cell Tower SUP CC Staff Report 
3. 2025.06.12 PC Meeting Minutes - DRAFT 

 

Page 29 of 60



 
CITY OF WOODLAND PARK 

ORDINANCE NO. 1498, SERIES 2025 

 

AN ORDINANCE GRANTING A SPECIAL USE PERMIT FOR THE PURPOSE OF CORE 
ELECTRIC COOPERATIVE TO REPLACE AN EXISTING 63-FOOT LATTICE 

COMMUNICATION TOWER WITH A NEW 120-FOOT LATTICE COMMUNICATION 
TOWER (130 FEET TO TOP OF APPURTENANCES).  THE SUBJECT PROPERTY IS 
LOCATED IN THE SE4SE4 SEC. 23 AND THAT PORTION OF THE E2NE4 SEC. 26 

LYING NORTH OF HIGHWAY 24 IN T12S, R69W OF THE 6TH P.M., (5955 TROUT 
CREEK ROAD, WOODLAND PARK, CO) IN THE AGRICULTURAL (AG) ZONE. 

 

WHEREAS, there is currently a disruption to the communication frequencies of CORE’s 
existing radio and microwave systems that require line-of-site between towers; and 

WHEREAS, CORE Electric Cooperative currently has a 63-foot tall lattice communication 
tower on the parcel of land known as 5955 Trout Creek Road, Woodland Park, CO; and  

WHEREAS, the City of Woodland Park has received a request for a Special Use Permit for 
the purpose of replacing the existing 63-foot lattice communication tower with a new 120-foot 
lattice communication tower (130 feet to top of appurtenances) located at the subject property 
located in the SE4SE4 Sec. 23 and that portion of the E2NE4 Sec. 26 lying north of Highway 24 in 
T12S, R69W of the 6th P.M., (5955 Trout Creek Road, Woodland Park, CO) within the Agricultural 
(AG) Zone District as a permanent solution; and 

WHEREAS, an application to establish said special use has been accepted and considered 
pursuant to Municipal Code Chapters 18.61 and 5.24; and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to Municipal Code Sections 18.61.020 and 18.72.060 and Charter 
Sections 7.6 and 15.7.b.1, a notice of the public hearings was published, a sign was posted,  letters 
were mailed to adjacent property owners; and  

WHEREAS, the Woodland Park Planning Commission considered the request on June 12, 
2025 and recommended approval based on evidence contained in the staff report and presented 
at public hearing. 

  

NOW, THEREFORE, THE CITY OF WOODLAND PARK, COLORADO, ORDAINS: 

Section 1. Approval.  The Special Use Permit for the replacement of an existing 63-foot lattice 
communication tower with a new 120-foot lattice communication tower (130 feet to top of 
appurtenances) located at the subject property located in the SE4SE4 Sec. 23 and that portion of 
the E2NE4 Sec. 26 lying north of Highway 24 in T12S, R69W of the 6th P.M., (5955 Trout Creek 
Road, Woodland Park, CO) in the Agricultural (AG) zone subject to the following conditions: 

Page 30 of 60



 
1. The applicant must submit a signed statement from a qualified radio frequency 
engineer, certifying that a technical evaluation of the proposed facility indicates no 
potential interference problems and that the site will comply with all applicable 
regulations for radio frequency emissions promulgated by the FCC. 
 
2. The owner of the property and the applicant have each submitted an affidavit 
acknowledging that each is responsible for the removal of a Wireless Communication 
Facility (WCF), including Related Accessory Equipment, that is abandoned or is unused 
for a period of six (6) months. 
 
3. This approval expires if the WCF is not established within one (1) year of the approval 
or if it is abandoned or unused for a period of six (6) months.   
 
4. All work done pursuant to WCF applications must be completed in accordance with all 
applicable building and safety requirements as set forth in the City Code, and any other 
applicable regulations. In addition, all WCF applications shall comply with the following: 

a. Comply with any permit or license issued by a local, state or federal agency 
with jurisdiction of the WCF; 

b. Comply with easements, covenants, conditions and/or restrictions on or 
applicable to the underlying real property; 

c. Remain free from trash, debris, litter, graffiti, and other forms of vandalism. 
Any damage shall be repaired as soon as practicable, and in no instance more 
than ten (10) days from the time of notification by the City or after discovery 
by the owner or operator of the Site. 

d. Be maintained in good working condition and to the standards established at 
the time of application approval or as otherwise required by applicable law. 

 
5. The applicant shall provide a compliance report within forty-five (45) days after 
installation of the WCF, demonstrating that as installed and in operation, the WCF 
complies with all conditions of approval, applicable City requirements and standard 
regulations. 
 
6. Prior to construction, application shall provide construction documents to the City of 
Woodland Park showing that security fencing will be constructed with appropriate anti-
climbing devices. 
 
7. Prior to construction of the proposed tower, the applicant must submit for and gain 
approval of a Zoning Development Permit with the City of Woodland Park including 
associated construction documents. 
 
8. Post construction, use of the facility is subject to the Operational Standards 
contained in Municipal Code Section 5.24.070 which include Federal requirements, 
radio frequency standards, signal interference, legal access, operation and 

Page 31 of 60



maintenance, abandonment and removal, hazardous materials, collocation, and 
compliance with other laws. 

 
Section 2.  Recitals.  The recitals contained in this Ordinance constitute the findings of City 
Council and are incorporated herein by reference.   
 
PASSED BY CITY COUNCIL ON SECOND AND FINAL READING FOLLOWING PUBLIC HEARING THIS 
17th DAY OF JULY, 2025. 

 

 
 

____________________________________  
The Honorable Mayor Kellie Case  

 
 
ATTEST:  __________________________________ 

City Clerk Suzanne Leclercq  
 

Page 32 of 60



1 
 

 

 
AGENDA ITEM 9A 
CORE Electric Cooperative Communication 
Tower Special Use Permit (A25-0082): A 
request by CORE Electric Cooperative 
(Applicant) and Legacy Title Holding 
Company, an Oklahoma Nonprofit 
Corporation (Property Owner) to replace an 
existing 63-foot lattice communication 
tower with a new 120-foot lattice 
communication tower (130 feet to top of 
appurtenances).  The subject property is 
located in the SE4SE4 Sec. 23 and that 
portion of the E2NE4 Sec. 26 lying north of 
Highway 24 in T12S, R69W of the 6th P.M., 
(5955 Trout Creek Road, Woodland Park, 
CO) in the Agricultural (AG) zone. (QJ) 
 
BACKGROUND 
The subject property is 66.37 acres in size, 
zoned agriculture (AG) and is located north of the intersection of Trout Creek Road and 
Colorado State Highway 24 (Figure 1). The Gordon Jackson Foundation, LLC transferred the 
subject property to the new owner, Legacy Title Holding Company, on May 17, 2023. The 
subject property is described with a metes and bounds legal description and has never been 
platted. Currently existing on the subject property are power lines with easements that are 
owned and maintained by Colorado Springs Utilities. There are also several companies that 
have constructed transmission towers located in the northern portion of the property including 
but not limited to Sprint, T-Mobile, Verizon Wireless, and CORE Electric. The current ages of the 
existing towers on the subject property are unknown and it is believed that most of them 
predate the City’s permitting process.  
 
According to Chapter 18.61.020 of the City of Woodland Park Municipal Code, a Special Use 
Permit (SUP) is required to develop towers and antennas exceeding fifty feet in height. 
Historically, when a company needs to perform a minor upgrade or repair an existing tower 
located at the subject property, a building zoning development permit is issued administratively 

Agenda Item Department Presenter 

9A Planning 
C.J. Gates 

Senior Planner 
 

City Council Staff Report 
Public Hearing July 17, 2025 

 

Figure 1: Vicinity Map 

Figure 1: Vicinity Map  

Page 33 of 60



2 
 

through the Planning Department. This application is being processed as a SUP since the 
proposed new antenna has a total height of 130 feet and is a total replacement and upgrade of 
the existing tower that CORE Electric utilizes at this location.               
 
SITE AND SURROUNDING PROPERTIES 
As seen in Figure 2 below, the subject property (outlined in red) is zoned Agricultural (A) with the red 
dot depicting where the existing and proposed tower site is located.  North of the subject property is a 
single-family development (Golden Eagle Ridge) with only one out of 7 parcels currently developed. To 
the east of the subject property is a vacant parcel zoned Multi-family Residential Suburban (shown in 
orange) and single-family homes located outside city limits. To the south of the subject property is 
Colorado State Highway 24 and other parcels located outside city limits. To the west of the proposed 
tower site is the Sanctuary Planned Unit Development where Charis Bible College, Andrew Wommack 
Ministries headquarters, and several single-family homes.  
    
 

 
 
 

Figure 2: Zoning Map of Existing Site  

Page 34 of 60



3 
 

The uses and zone districts for the area immediately surrounding the subject property are as 
follows: 

 USE ZONE 
North Single Family – Golden Eagle Ridge 

 
UR 

East Vacant parcel located in City limits & Single-Family Homes within Unincorporated 
Teller County 

East 

South Highway 24 & Unincorporated Teller County parcels   County 
West  Charis Bible College property & Single Family Homes within Unincorporated Teller 

County 
PUD 

 
 
AREA AND SITE PHOTOS 
Figure 3a is an aerial photo of the subject property and surrounding area. Site photos which the 
applicant included in the application packet follow in figures 3b and 3c. 
 

 
 

Figure 3a: Aerial of Subject Property  

Page 35 of 60



4 
 

 
 

 

Figure 3b: Existing Site looking northeast  
 

Figure 3c: Existing Site looking northwest 
 

Page 36 of 60



5 
 

CURRENT PROPOSAL  
On April 17, 2025, Woodland Park Planning staff received a Special Use Permit Application for 
the replacement of an existing 63-foot lattice communication tower with a new 120-foot lattice 
tower (130-feet to the top of the appurtenances) at the parcel located at 5955 Trout Creek 
Road.  
 
According to the narrative submitted within the application packet, due to the growth of the 
trees surrounding the existing tower there has been disruption to the communication 
frequencies to CORE’s other existing facilities due to their radio and microwave systems 
requiring line-of-sight between towers. The proposed improvements will provide continued 
support of CORE’s infrastructure and the functioning of the power grid by maintaining secure, 
efficient transmission of communicans. In addition, the tower will have two wildfire security 
cameras that will support wildfire detection for the United States Forest Service (USFS), as well 
as additional space for state or local emergency communication equipment. The proposed 
tower benefits not only CORE’s customers but the wider community and first responders. The 
tower is proposed to comply with all FCC regulations. 
 
CORE is planning to continue to utilize the existing access off Trout Creek Road and Highway 24. 
After the initial surge in traffic due to the construction of the replacement tower, there will not 
be an increase in total trips to the site.  
 
Also included within the application packet are photo simulations of what the site will look like 
once the proposed tower is constructed. Below in Figures 4a and 4b are the photo simulations.  
 

Page 37 of 60



6 
 

 

 

Figure 4a: Site looking northeast with proposed 
conditions 
 

Figure 4b: Site looking northwest with 
proposed conditions 
 

Page 38 of 60



7 
 

REFERRALS 

The aplication was referred to City departments including the City Attorney, the City Manager, 
the City Clerk, Utilities, Public Works, Planning and Building and external agencies including 
CDOT, Northeast Teller County Fire Protection District, Black Hills Energy, Core Electric, Century 
Link/Lumen, and TDS Telecom.  
 
Staff received only one referral response. CDOT stated that they had no comment regarding the 
proposed tower replacement.  
 
ANALYSIS OF SPECIAL USE PERMIT AND FINDINGS 
Municipal code section §18.61 Special Use Permit addresses the review of special use permit 
requests. §18.61.040 states, “The standards for special use permits are intended only as a 
minimum necessary for review. An application for a special use permit, even though meeting the 
minimal standards of this chapter and code, may be denied, if it is determined that the 
development and use is not the best interest of the city.” § 18.61.040 also specifies the standards 
by which all special uses must comply in order to receive approval. 

Below is a listing of the applicable SUP standards from Code Section 18.61.040 complete with 
staff’s analysis: 

A. The proposed development and use shall have a demonstrated direct public benefit to the city. 
Complies. The service provided by the proposed communication facility will have a direct 
public benefit to the City and region. The proposed facility will be utilized to ensure rapid 
outage detection and recovery minimizing the risk of blackouts within the CORE Electric 
service area. In addition, the tower will have two new wildfire security cameras that will 
support wildfire detection and space on the tower for the United States Forest Service (USFS), 
state or local services for emergency communication. 

B. The proposed development and use shall not materially endanger the public health and 
welfare. 
Complies. The proposed communication tower is not proposed to materially endanger the 
public health and welfare. 

C. The proposed development and use shall not substantially injure the value of vicinity 
properties. 
Complies.  The proposed tower is a replacement and upgrade from the existing CORE tower 
at the subject property and will not be taller than other existing telecommunication towers 
on the Gold Hill site.  

D. The proposed development and use shall be in harmony with the area in which it is to be 
located. 
Complies. The proposed removal and replacement of the existing CORE tower will be in 
harmony with the area. Several other towers exist on the subject property within the same 
general area as both the existing and proposed tower location.  These other towers are 
visually higher than the CORE replacement tower.  The proposed tower replacement is 

 

 
  

Page 39 of 60



8 
 

planned to be a total of 120-foot tall (130 feet to the top of the appurtenance). The tallest 
tower currently existing on the subject property is a total of 150-feet tall.  

E. The proposed development and use shall conform to the provisions, objectives and policies of 
all city plans, adopted and in effect at the time of application, including but not limited to 
growth management, transportation, utilities, capital improvements and downtown 
redevelopment.  
Complies. The development is consistent with the following principles and goals specified in 
the City’s 2021 Comprehensive Plan. 

Public Safety and Emergency Management Goal 1: Continue to provide excellent public safety 
and emergency services. 

Resiliency Objective 3.1: Maintain redundancy in communication systems. 

As shown on the Comprehensive Plan’s Future Land Use Map (Figure 5), the northern portion 
of the subject parcel where the existing and proposed tower is located is labeled as “open 
space” while the southern portion of the site is labeled as “mixed use”. The plan identifies 
several areas as “mixed use” and this portion of the parcel is associated with area B, which is 
defined as: “Area B is comprised of the approved Sturman PUD and Sanctuary PUD (Charis 
Bible College)”. Additionally, page 21 of the Envision Woodland Park 2030 comprehensive 
plan provides the following guidance for using the Future Land Use Map: 

 

Page 40 of 60



9 
 

 
 

F. The proposed development and use shall conform to the provisions, standards and 
requirements of all city regulations, adopted and in effect at the time of application, including 
but not limited to zoning, subdivision, utilities, buildings and construction, business 
regulations and engineering specifications.  
May Comply. The proposed facility may comply if the applicant is complies with the 
Woodland Park Municipal Code and the conditions of approval listed within this staff report.  

G. The proposed development and use shall be designed, constructed and maintained to 
accommodate the on-site and off-site traffic generated.  
Complies. CORE will be utilizing the existing access road located on the subject property 
accessed off Trout Creek Road which CORE maintains. The application was also referred to 
the Colorado Department of Transportation (CDOT) and they had no comment or concerns.     

H. The proposed development and use shall be designed, constructed and maintained with 
appropriate regard to topography, surface drainage, soil potentials, natural and man-made 
hazards, streams and environmentally significant features.  
Complies. The proposed facility is proposed to not adversely affect the existing topography, 
surface drainage, soil potentials, natural and man-made hazards, streams and 
environmentally significant features. 

I. The proposed development and use shall be designed, constructed and maintained with 
adequate water supply, wastewater disposal, solid waste disposal, air quality protection 
methods and surface water drainage.  
Complies. The proposed facility does not require or involve any water supply, wastewater 
disposal, solid waste disposal, air quality protection methods, or surface water drainage.  

Figure 5: Woodland Park Future Land Use Map 
 

Page 41 of 60



10 
 

J. The proposed development and use shall be designed, constructed and maintained to not 
unduly increase the public danger of fire, explosion and other safety hazards upon the 
public, and persons residing or working on the site and vicinity.  
Complies. The applicant is taking ownership of all construction and maintenance and claims 
does not increase public danger. Additionally, the two new wildfire security cameras will 
support early wildfire detection. 

K. The development and use may be required to provide architectural design schemes and may 
also require amenities such as, but not limited to, fencing, landscaping, buffer areas. 
Complies. The proposed facility will be of similar design to the existing towers on the subject 
property and will be constructed with a non-galvanized steel color in order to minimize 
appearance of the tower. Due to the site’s terrain and vegetation, the base of the tower is 
not visible from surrounding parcels. 
 

L. The proposed development shall require approval of the City that connection and availability 
of a water source exists that is sufficient to serve the needs of the proposed uses and 
structure. 
Not Applicable. The proposed facility does not require any water.  Additionally, water service 
is not available at this location. 
 

ANALYSIS OF WOODLAND PARK MUNICIPLE CODE AND FINDINGS 
On July 18, 2024 the Woodland Park City Council approved Ordinance No. 1477 Series 2024 
which amended Title 5 of the Woodland Park Municipal Code, the purpose of which is to 
regulate the placement, construction, and modification of wireless communication facility.  
[Note: the Municode Codification link on the City’s website does not include Ordinance 1744.]   
 
From Ordinance No. 1477, below is a listing of the applicable standards from Code Section 
5.24.060 complete with staff’s analysis:   
 
A. Camouflage/Concealment. All WCFs and any Related Accessory Equipment shall, to the 

maximum extent possible, use Concealment design techniques, and where not possible utilize 
Camouflage Design Techniques. Camouflage Design Techniques include, but are not limited 
to using materials, colors, textures, screening, undergrounding, landscaping, or other design 
options that will blend the WCF to the surrounding natural setting and built environment.  

1. Where WCFs are located in areas of high public visibility, they shall, where physically 
possible, be designed to be concealed, and where not possible to be concealed, to 
minimize the WFC profile through placement of equipment fully or partially 
underground, or by way of example and not limitation, behind landscape berms.  

2. A concealment design may include the use of Alternative Tower Structures should the 
City determine that such design meets the intent of this Code and the community is 
better served thereby.  

3. All WCFs, such as antennas, vaults, equipment enclosures, and Towers shall be 
constructed of non-reflective materials (visible exterior surfaces only) and, where 
applicable, shall be painted to match as closely as possible the color and texture of any 

 

 
  

Page 42 of 60



11 
 

infrastructure on which it is mounted. 
Complies. The proposed tower replacement will be built with a non-reflective galvanized steel 
color to minimize appearance of the tower. The proposed tower and related accessory 
equipment location reduces potential visual impacts to surrounding properties due to the 
lower grade on the mountain which helps with being visually lower and the other towers 
currently located at the site.  
 

B. Siting.  
1. No portion of any WCF may extend beyond the property line.  
2. WCFs shall be required to be designed and constructed to permit the facility to 

accommodate WCFs from at least two (2) wireless service providers and the same WCF 
unless the City approves an alternative design. No WCF owner or operator shall 
unfairly exclude a competitor from using the same facility of Site.  

3. WCFs shall be sited in a location that does not reduce the parking for the other 
principal uses on the parcel below Code standards.  

4. WCFs shall not encroach into any sight triangles. 

Complies. The proposed tower and related accessory equipment will not extend beyond the 
property line. CORE is not proposing co-location with any other communication companies 
but they are proposing additional space on the tower for state and local emergency 
communication equipment.  The current proposal does not include any parking or sight 
triangle impacts. 

C. Lighting. WCFs shall not be artificially lighted, unless required by the FM or other applicable 
governmental authority, or the WCF is mounted on a light pole or other similar structure 
primarily used for lighting purposes. If lighting is required, the City may review the available 
lighting alternatives and approve the design that would cause the least disturbance to the 
surrounding views. Lighting shall be shielded or directed to the greatest extent possible so as 
to minimize the amount of glare and light falling onto nearby properties, particularly 
residences.  
Complies. The tower is not proposed with any artificial lighting. 
 

D. Landscape and Fencing Requirements.  
1. WCFs shall be sited in a manner that does not reduce the landscaped areas for the 

other principal uses on the lot or parcel, below any applicable Code standards including 
without limitation, Planned Unit Development standards.  

2. The Site of the WCF shall be landscaped with a buffer of plant materials that effectively 
screen the view of the WCF from adjacent residential property. The standard buffer 
shall consist of the front, side, and rear landscaped setback on the perimeter of the 
Site.  

3. In locations where the visual impact of the WCF would be minimal, the landscaping 
requirement may be reduced or waived in whole or in part by the City.  

4. Existing mature tree growth and natural landforms on the Site shall be preserved to 

Page 43 of 60



12 
 

the maximum extent possible. In some cases, such as WCFs sited on large, wooded 
lots, natural growth around the Site perimeter may be sufficient to buffer. Applicant’s 
plan minimizes the number of trees to be removed and any trees removed are replaced 
at a ratio of two (2) to one (1). 

Complies. The Landscaping provision of this requirement is being waved due to the 
forested hilltop setting of the proposed development. The terrain and existing mature 
trees provides screening to the proposed tower. Due to the remote location and lack of 
water, it is not realistic to plat new trees for this tower replacement.   The proposal is also 
planned to have a 7-foot height fence around the new tower and the northeast part of the 
equipment shelter which will connect to the existing link fence.    

E.4. Towers. 

a) Towers shall either maintain a galvanized steel finish, or, subject to any applicable FAA 
standards, be painted a neutral color so as to reduce visual obtrusiveness as determined 
by the City; 
Complies. The proposed tower replacement will be in a non-reflective galvanized steel 
color to minimize appearance of the tower. 

b) Tower structures should use existing landforms, vegetation, and structures to aid in 
concealing the facility from view or blending in with the surrounding built and natural 
environment; 
Complies. The tower’s forested hilltop setting reduces potential visual impacts to 
surrounding properties. The site is also located on a lower grade on the mountain which 
helps with being visually lower than other towers in the immediate area. 

c) Monopole support structures shall taper from the base to the tip; 
Not Applicable. The proposed tower is a lattice structure and not a monopole structure.  

d) All Towers shall be enclosed by security fencing or wall at least six (6) feet in height and 
shall also be equipped with an appropriate anti-climbing device. No security fencing or 
any portion thereof shall consist of barbed wire or chain link material unless temporary 
and approved by the City; 
Complies. A 7-foot-high chain link fence is proposed around the new tower. The 
equipment shelter is planned to connect to the fence in order to secure the facility and 
will be equipped with security cameras to prevent trespassing. Due to the remote location 
of this facility and the natural screening provided by the terrain, staff is comfortable with 
a chain-link fence provided anti-climbing devices are added.  

e) Towers shall be subject to the maximum height restrictions of the zoning district in which 
they are located, subject to a maximum height limit of fifty (50) feet; 
Complies. As stated, the proposed tower is planned to be a total of 120-foot high (130 
feet to the top of the appurtenance). Contrary to this regulation, Towers exceeding fifty 
feet in height are allowed to be constructed with approval of a Special Use Permit in 
accordance with Section 18.61.020 (Special Use Permits – Applicability) of the Woodland 
Park Municipal Code.   

Page 44 of 60



13 
 

f) Towers should be sited in a manner that is least obtrusive to residential structures and 
residential district boundaries where feasible; 
Complies. The tower’s forested hilltop setting reduces potential visual impacts to 
surrounding properties. The site is also located on a lower grade on the mountain which 
helps with being visually lower than other towers in the immediate area. The existing 63-
foot high CORE tower will be decommissioned and removed after the new tower has been 
erected and is operational. The related accessory equipment located at the base of the 
tower will be constructed from beige aggregate, surrounded by existing forest, and not 
visible from adjacent properties. 

g) Towers should take into consideration the uses on adjacent and nearby properties and the 
compatibility of the Tower to these uses; 
Complies. The proposed removal and replacement of the existing CORE tower will be 
compatible with the surrounding area. There are several other existing towers that are 
within immediate range of the existing tower and that are visually higher than the 
proposed CORE replacement tower. 

h) Towers should be designed utilizing design characteristics that have the effect of reducing 
or eliminating visual obtrusiveness; 
Complies. The proposed tower is a lattice structure with a non-reflective galvanized steel 
color to minimize appearance of the tower. 

i) Visual impacts of the proposed ingress and egress shall be minimized; 
Complies. CORE will be utilizing the existing access road located on the subject property 
accessed off Trout Creek Road which CORE maintains. The application was also referred 
to the Colorado Department of Transportation (CDOT) and they had no comment on the 
proposed tower.  

j) No new Towers shall be permitted unless the Applicant demonstrates to the reasonable 
satisfaction of the City that no existing WCFs can accommodate the needs that the 
Applicant proposed to address with its Tower application. Evidence submitted to 
demonstrate that no existing WCFs can accommodate these needs may consist of the 
following: 

i. No existing WCFs are of sufficient height and are located within the geographic area 
required to meet the Applicant’s engineering requirements;  

ii. Existing WCFs do not have sufficient structural strength to support Applicant's 
proposed WCF;  

iii. The Applicant’s proposed WCF would cause electromagnetic interference with the 
WCFs or the existing WCFs would cause interference with the Applicant’s proposed 
WCFs’ or  

iv. The Applicant demonstrates that there are other limiting factors that render existing 
WCFs unsuitable for collocation. 
Complies. This is a replacement of an existing CORE communication tower. CORE 
plays a large roll in emergency response, including wildfire mitigation and blackouts. 
Also, CORE’s communications must be secure, private, and independent of public 
telecom infrastructure. The proposed tower replacement will achieve these goals.   

Page 45 of 60



14 
 

 

k) A Tower shall meet the greater of the following minimum setbacks from all property lines:  
i. The setback for a principal building within the applicable zoning; 

ii. Twenty-five percent of the facility height, including WCF’s and Transmission 
Equipment; or 

iii. The Tower height, including antennas if the Tower is in or adjacent to residential district 
residential zoned property.  

iv. Towers fifty (50) feet in height shall not be located within one-quarter mile from an 
existing Tower that is fifty (50) feet in height, unless the Applicant has shown to the 
satisfaction of the City that there are no reasonably suitable alternative sites in the 
required geographic area which can meet the Applicant's needs. 

Complies. The proposed tower meets the setback of 130’ from the property line per this 
regulation and the proposed tower is planned to be 50’ from adjacent towers.    

l) No Towers shall be permitted in the Right-of-Way. 
Complies. The proposed tower will not be constructed within any right-of-way.   

E.5. Related Accessory Equipment – Related Accessory Equipment for all WCF’s shall meet the 
following requirements: 

a) All buildings, shelters, cabinets, and other accessory components shall be grouped as 
closely as technically possible;  
Complies. All accessory equipment is being located in close proximity to the base of the 
tower.  

b) The total footprint coverage area of the WCF’s Related Accessory Equipment shall not 
exceed three hundred fifty (350) square feet; 
Complies. The proposed equipment shelter area will be a total of 221 square feet.  

c) No Related Accessory Equipment or accessory structure shall exceed twelve (12) feet in 
height; 
Complies. The maximum proposed height of the Accessory Equipment or accessory 
structure for this project is 7-foot 10-inches high.  

d) Related accessory Equipment shall be located out of sight wherever possible by locating 
behind parapet walls or within equipment enclosures. Where such alternate locations are 
not available, the Related Accessory Equipment shall be concealed where technically 
feasible or otherwise camouflaged in a manner appropriate for the specific site. 
Complies. The equipment compound is located at the base of the tower which is at a 
lower grade on the mountain, and is constructed from beige aggregate, surrounded by 
existing forest, and will not be visible from adjacent properties.  

 
NOTIFICATIONS AND PUBLIC COMMENT  
Adjacent property owners within 150 feet were mailed a letter notifying them of the submittal 
of the application as well as all meeting dates including the scheduled Planning Commission and 

Page 46 of 60



15 
 

City Council public hearings. The site was posted with public notice posters and notice of the 
public hearings was published in the Pikes Peak Courier in compliance with the Municipal Code.  
 
While staff has received a couple inquires about the application, no public comment on the 
proposal has been submitted.  
 
PLANNING COMMISSION RECOMMENDATION  
The Planning Commission held a public hearing on June 12, 2025 (draft minutes attached). After 
consideration of the staff report and comments made at the public hearing, the Planning 
Commission voted unanimously to recommend That City Council:  
 
Approve the Special Use Permit for the replacement of an existing 63-foot lattice 
communication tower with a new 120-foot lattice communication tower (130 feet to top of 
appurtenances) located at the subject property located in the SE4SE4 Sec. 23 and that portion 
of the E2NE4 Sec. 26 lying north of Highway 24 in T12S, R69W of the 6th P.M., (5955 Trout 
Creek Road, Woodland Park, CO) in the Agricultural (AG) zone subject to the following 
conditions:   

1. The applicant must submit a signed statement from a qualified radio frequency 
engineer, certifying that a technical evaluation of the proposed facility indicates no 
potential interference problems and that the site will comply with all applicable 
regulations for radio frequency emissions promulgated by the FCC. 

2. The owner of the property and the applicant have each submitted an affidavit 
acknowledging that each is responsible for the removal of a WCF, including Related 
Accessory Equipment, that is abandoned or is unused for a period of six (6) months. 

3. This approval expires if the WCF is not established within one (1) year of the approval or 
if it is abandoned or unused for a period of six (6) months. 

4. All work done pursuant to WCF applications must be completed in accordance with all 
applicable building and safety requirements as set forth in the City Code, and any other 
applicable regulations. In addition, all WCF applications shall comply with the following: 

a. Comply with any permit or license issued by a local, state or federal agency with 
jurisdiction of the WCF; 

b. Comply with easements, covenants, conditions and/or restrictions on or 
applicable to the underlying real property;  

c. Remain free from trash, debris, litter, graffiti, and other forms of vandalism. Any 
damage shall be repaired as soon as practicable, and in no instance more than ten 
(10) days from the time of notification by the City or after discovery by the owner 
or operator of the Site.  

d. Be maintained in good working condition and to the standards established at the 
time of application approval or as otherwise required by applicable law; and  

5. The applicant shall provide a compliance report within forty-five (45) days after 
installation of the WCF, demonstrating that as installed and in operation, the WCF 
complies with all conditions of approval, applicable City requirements and standard 
regulations.  

Page 47 of 60



16 
 

6. Prior to construction, application shall provide construction documents to the City of 
Woodland Park showing that security fencing will be constructed with appropriate anti-
climbing devices. 

7. Prior to construction of the proposed tower, the applicant must submit for and gain 
approval of a Zoning Development Permit with the City of Woodland Park including 
associated construction documents.  

8. Post construction, use of the facility is subject to the Operational Standards contained in 
Municipal Code Section 5.24.070 which include Federal requirements, radio frequency 
standards, signal interference, legal access, operation and maintenance, abandonment 
and removal, hazardous materials, collocation, and compliance with other laws. 

    
STAFF RECOMMENDATION  
Approve Ordinance No. 1498, Series 2025, an Ordinance granting a Special Use Permit for the 
purpose of Core Electric Cooperative to replace an existing 63-foot lattice communication 
tower with a new 120-foot lattice communication tower (130 feet to top of appurtenances).  
The subject property is located in the SE4SE4 SEC. 23 and that portion of the E2NE4 SEC. 26 
lying North of Highway 24 in T12S, R69W of the 6th p.m., (5955 Trout Creek Road, Woodland 
Park, CO) in the Agricultural (AG) zone. 
 
ATTACHMENTS  

A. Draft Planning Commission Minutes from June 12, 2025 
B. Ordinance No. 1489, Series 2025   

Page 48 of 60



 

Page 1 of 5 

 

WOODLAND PARK PLANNING COMMISSION 
MEETING MINUTES for June 12, 2025 

Council Chambers, 220 W. South Avenue, Woodland Park 

This meeting was a hybrid meeting with in-person and virtual attendance. The Zoom 
meeting link is in the calendar on the City website front page. Public input is very important 

to the Planning Commission. Comments were encouraged in writing in advance of the 
meeting to be submitted by mail to the Planning Department at PO Box 9007, Woodland 

Park, CO, 80866 or email to kschminke@woodlandpark.gov. 
 

1. CALL TO ORDER & ROLL:  
Chair Brown called the meeting to order at 6:31 pm. 

Present  Vice-Chair Larry Larsen 
Present  Commissioner Don Dezellem 
Present  Commissioner Ken Hartsfield 
Absent  Commissioner Don Hoying 
Present  Commissioner Ken Kennedy 
Present  Commissioner Jarrod Newcom 
Present  Chair Lee Brown 
Staff Present:   Planning Director Karen Schminke, AICP 
   Senior Planner CJ Gates 
   City Attorney Brandon Dittman 
    
Quorum requirements are satisfied. 

 
2. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

3. APPROVE MINUTES: Commissioner Hartsfield motioned, and Commissioner Dezellem 
seconded approving the May 8, 2025 Planning Commission minutes. Motion carried with five 
voice votes and Commissioner Larsen abstaining due to not attending that meeting. 

4. PUBLIC HEARINGS: 

A. CORE Electric Cooperative Communication Tower Special Use Permit 
(A25-0082): A request by CORE Electric Cooperative (Applicant) and Legacy 
Title Holding Company, an Oklahoma Nonprofit Corporation (Property Owner) to 
replace an existing 63-foot lattice communication tower with a new 120-foot 
lattice communication tower (130 feet to top of appurtenances). The subject 
property is located in the SE4SE4 Sec. 23 and that portion of the E2NE4 Sec. 
26 lying north of Highway 24 in T12S, R69W of the 6th P.M., (5955 Trout Creek 
Road, Woodland Park, CO) in the Agricultural (AG) zone.  (QJ) 

Senior Planner Gates presented the staff report, reviewing the project’s history, location, and 
zoning. He gave examples of previously approved transmission towers from several other 
corporations, most of which are believed to predate the City’s current permitting processes. 
He showed photos of the site with the current towers compared to the proposed CORE tower. 
The proposed elevations show that the tower will not be the tallest tower on the site because 
of the placement below maximum grade. The application was referred to all required internal 
and external departments and agencies, and public notice requirements were met. Staff 
received no public comments. Staff received one comment from CDOT stating they have no 
comments.  

Page 49 of 60

mailto:kschminke@woodlandpark.gov


 

Page 2 of 5 

 

Senior Planner Gates then provided a Code analysis of MC Section 18.61 Special Use Permit. 
The proposed tower “complies” with the standards, and “may comply” if the conditions of 
approval are met. He also provided analysis of Ordinance No. 1477, Series 2024, which 
regulates the placement, construction, and modification of a wireless communication facility; 
the landscaping provision of this ordinance is being waved due to the dry, forested hilltop 
sighting. Also, a seven-foot high chain link fence equipped with security cameras, and tied 
into the existing fence, is proposed for this tower. Due to the remote location of the facility and 
the natural screening provided by the terrain, staff is comfortable with a chain-link fence 
provided an anti-climbing device is added. 

Staff recommends that the Planning Commission recommend to City Council: Approval of a 
Special Use Permit for the replacement of an existing 63-foot lattice communication tower with 
a new 120-foot lattice communication tower (130 feet to the top of appurtenances) located at 
the subject property located in the SE4SE4 Sec. 23 and that portion of E2NE4 Sec. 26 lying 
north of Highway 24 in T12, R69W of the 6th P.M., (5955 Trout Creek Road, Woodland Park, 
CO) in the Agricultural (AG) zone subject to the following conditions: 

1. The applicant must submit a signed statement from a qualified radio 
frequency engineer, certifying that a technical evaluation of the proposed 
facility indicates no potential interference problems and that the site will 
comply with all applicable regulations for radio frequency emissions 
promulgated by the FCC. 

2. The owner of the property and applicant have each submitted an affidavit 
acknowledging that each is responsible for the removal of a WCF, including 
Related Accessory Equipment, that is abandoned or is unused for a period 
of six (6) months.  

3. This approval expires if the WCF is not established within one (1) year of 
the approval or if it is abandoned or unused for a period of six (6) months.  

4. All work done pursuant to WCF applications must be completed in 
accordance with all applicable building and safety requirements as set forth 
in the City Code, and any other applicable regulations. In addition, all WCF 
applications shall comply with the following: 

a) Comply with any permit or license issued by a local, state or federal 
agency with jurisdiction of the WCF; 

b) Comply with easements, covenants, conditions and/or restrictions on or 
applicable to the underlying real property; 

c) Remain free from trash, debris, litter, graffiti, and other forms of 
vandalism. Any damage shall be repaired as soon as practicable, and in 
no instance more than ten (10) days from the time of notification by the 
City or after discovery by the owner or operator of the Site.  

d) Be maintained in good working condition and to the standards 
established at the time of application approval or as otherwise required 
by applicable law.  

5. The applicant shall provide a compliance report within forty-five (45) working 
days after installation of the WCF, demonstrating that as installed and in 
operation, the WCF complies with all conditions of approval, applicable City 
requirements and standard conditions. 

Page 50 of 60



 

Page 3 of 5 

 

6. Prior to construction, applicant shall provide construction documents to the 
City of Woodland Park showing that security fencing will be constructed with 
anti-climbing devices. 

7. Prior to construction of the proposed tower, the applicant must submit for 
and gain approval of a Zoning Development Permit with the City of 
Woodland Park including associated construction documents. 

8. Post construction, use of the facility is subject to the operational standards 
contained in the Municipal Code Section 5.24.070 which include Federal 
requirements, radio frequency standards, signal interference, legal access, 
operation and maintenance, abandonment and removal, hazardous 
materials, collocation, and compliance with other laws.  

Senior Planner Gates noted that Condition 1 has already been met. 

Commissioners clarified the definition of an anti-climbing device. Since 2015 there have been 
changes at the federal and state levels on how municipalities can review wireless facilities, 
which is why City Council addressed it last year in Ordinance 1477.  

The applicant’s representative, Ashley Christiansen of CORE, made the applicant’s 
presentation. The tower upgrade is necessary to alleviate communication disruptions, support 
emergency services, and support power grid functions. She reviewed CORE’s Fault, Location, 
Isolation, Service Restoration (FLISR), a smart grid automation process that uses real-time 
communication to reduce outage durations, enhance system reliability, and limit the number 
of impacted customers. She also reviewed the current communications system for outages. 
The proposed tower has more benefits for CORE and other agencies, including secure 
communication, public benefit, regional support, and fault/grid stability. The estimated 
completion date is October 31, 2025 if the project is started in late July. CORE anticipates 
minimal impact on traffic as the existing access is maintained. The existing tower will be 
decommissioned and removed once the new tower is activated. The applicant and staff will 
brainstorm ideas for the fence’s anti-climbing device.  

Vice-Chair Larsen affirmed that the applicant supports the conditions. While the tree growth 
was one factor in the need for a higher tower, adding the newer technology is a larger reason.  

Chair Brown opened and closed the public comment period with no comments made in person 
or online. 

Chair Brown commented that this special use permit application may be positive for the City. 
Commissioner Hartsfield inquired about any other methods of camouflage or concealment of 
a 130-foot tower, to which CORE responded that the tower is lower on grade, the lattice body 
makes it less visible compared to a solid post, and the non-reflective finish. No navigation 
lights will be installed since they are not required.  

With no additional discussion, the Chair called for the vote: 

MOTION: Commissioner Hartsfield moved, and Commissioner Dezellem seconded, 
to recommend City Council approve a Special Use Permit for the replacement of an 
existing 63-foot lattice communication tower with a new 120-foot lattice communication 
tower (130 feet to the top of appurtenances) located at the subject property located in 
the SE4SE4 Sec. 23 and that portion of E2NE4 Sec. 26 lying north of Highway 24 in 
T12, R69W of the 6th P.M., (5955 Trout Creek Road, Woodland Park, CO) in the 
Agricultural (AG) zone subject to the following conditions: 

1. The applicant must submit a signed statement from a qualified radio 
frequency engineer, certifying that a technical evaluation of the proposed 

Page 51 of 60



 

Page 4 of 5 

 

facility indicates no potential interference problems and that the site will 
comply with all applicable regulations for radio frequency emissions 
promulgated by the FCC. 

2. The owner of the property and applicant have each submitted an affidavit 
acknowledging that each is responsible for the removal of a WCF, including 
Related Accessory Equipment, that is abandoned or is unused for a period 
of six (6) months.  

3. This approval expires if the WCF is not established within one (1) year of 
the approval or if it is abandoned or unused for a period of six (6) months.  

4. All work done pursuant to WCF applications must be completed in 
accordance with all applicable building and safety requirements as set forth 
in the City Code, and any other applicable regulations. In addition, all WCF 
applications shall comply with the following: 

a) Comply with any permit or license issued by a local, state or federal 
agency with jurisdiction of the WCF; 

b) Comply with easements, covenants, conditions and/or restrictions on or 
applicable to the underlying real property; 

c) Remain free from trash, debris, litter, graffiti, and other forms of 
vandalism. Any damage shall be repaired as soon as practicable, and in 
no instance more than ten (10) days from the time of notification by the 
City or after discovery by the owner or operator of the Site.  

d) Be maintained in good working condition and to the standards 
established at the time of application approval or as otherwise required 
by applicable law.  

5. The applicant shall provide a compliance report within forty-five (45) working 
days after installation of the WCF, demonstrating that as installed and in 
operation, the WCF complies with all conditions of approval, applicable City 
requirements and standard conditions. 

6. Prior to construction, applicant shall provide construction documents to the 
City of Woodland Park showing that security fencing will be constructed with 
anti-climbing devices. 

7. Prior to construction of the proposed tower, the applicant must submit for 
and gain approval of a Zoning Development Permit with the City of 
Woodland Park including associated construction documents. 

8. Post construction, use of the facility is subject to the operational standards 
contained in the Municipal Code Section 5.24.070 which include Federal 
requirements, radio frequency standards, signal interference, legal access, 
operation and maintenance, abandonment and removal, hazardous 
materials, collocation, and compliance with other laws.  

YES: Dezellem, Hartsfield, Kennedy, Newcom, Larsen, Brown.  NO: None. 

Motion carries 6 – 0. 

The City Council Public Hearing for this item is scheduled for Thursday, July 17, 2025, at 6:30 
P.M. 

Page 52 of 60



 

Page 5 of 5 

 

9. REPORTS: Planning Director Schminke reported that the staff is hopeful the complete ‘clean’ 
draft of the Code Update will be distributed to the Planning Commission soon. Also, the City 
Attorney asked the wireless communication towers and facilities sections currently in Title 5 
be incorporated into the new land use code; those will be reflected in the draft. A possible 
work session will be held at the end of the month.  

10. ADJOURN: The meeting was adjourned at 7:03 p.m.  

 
Approved this _______day of ________________, 2025 by  
 
 

_______________________________                      
Lee Brown, Chair 

 

Page 53 of 60



 

City Council 
Agenda Item 10.A. 

July 17, 2025 

    
STAFF REPORT  

    
TO: Mayor Case and City Council 
    
FROM: Grant Ahtye  
    
DATE: July 17, 2025 
    
SUBJECT: Approve a Rock, Gem & Jewelry Show Temporary Use Permit (TUP) - a request 

from Kim Packham (Applicant) and Peter LaBarre (property owner) for on-site vendor 
camping August 11-18, 2025 for the Woodland Park Rock, Gem and Jewelry Show 
special event at 19250 E US Hwy 24 in the Service Commercial (SC) zone district. 
(QJ) (Presenter: Permit Technician, Grant Ahtye) 

     
  
BACKGROUND:  See attached detailed report. 
  
RECOMMENDATION:  Approve camping on the Ute Pass Saddle Club grounds (19250 E US Hwy 
24) in conjunction with the Woodland Park Rock, Gem and Jewelry Show special event Temporary 
Use Permit subject to the following conditions: 

1. Camping shall occur only between 9 AM August 11 through 9 PM August 18, 2025. 
2. Camping shall be for event volunteers and vendors only with no more than 45 camping units 

permitted on-site at any given time. 
3. Camping units shall include tents, camper trailers, recreational vehicles and pickup campers. 
4. Camping units shall not be connected to City water or sewer and shall be self-contained. 
5. On and off-site trash, garbage or debris shall be cleaned up during and upon cessation of 

camping.  On-site clean-up shall be coordinated with and enforced by the property owner and 
event coordinator.   

6. The event coordinator shall be responsive to complaints received, if any. 
7. All lighting for the camping and event areas, if any, shall be downcast, fully shielded, and 

turned off by 9 PM each night. 
8. All generators (if any) shall be turned off by 10 PM. 
9. The event coordinator and all campers shall at all times be subject to Municipal Code §9.41 

Noise. 
10. At no time shall campers, vendors, event volunteers or guests/participants obstruct access to 

the City of Woodland Park lift station.  

   
ATTACHMENTS: 1. CC SR Rock Gem Camping 2025 

2. CC SR Rock Gem Camping 2025 - Site Plan 
 

Page 54 of 60



 

 

 

ITEM:   Consider a request by Kim Packham (Applicant) and Peter LaBarre (property 
owner) for on-site vendor camping from August 11 - 18, 2025 for the Woodland Park Rock, 
Gem and Jewelry Show special event at 19250 E US Hwy 24 in the Service Commercial (SC) 
zone district. (QJ)  

BACKGROUND:   Pursuant to Municipal Code §8.12 Camping in Designated Areas, City 
Council may permit self-contained camping units in designated locations other than 
licensed campgrounds.  The City has received a written request to camp overnight in 
conjunction with the Rock, Gem and Jewelry Show.  This will be the fifteenth (15th) year for 
camping in conjunction with the Woodland Park Rock, Gem and Jewelry show at this 
location. 

The request proposes camping for approximately 45 vendors from August 11 through 
August 18 (7 nights).  Overnight camping is limited to show vendors and event volunteers 
only and camp sites are proposed to be located within the designated vendor spaces to 
provide maximum merchandise security and vendor convenience.  This year’s application 
is requesting use of generators until 10 PM; in prior years generators were required to be 
turned off by 9 PM.   

City staff has reviewed this request for compliance with Municipal Code §8.12.020.  Public 
notice of this request was provided by publication as an agenda item, public notice posters 
posted on the property, and letters mailed to all property owners within 150 feet.  As of the 
writing of this staff report, no written comments or concerns were received. 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION 

Motion to APPROVE camping on the Ute Pass Saddle Club grounds (19250 E US Hwy 24) in 

conjunction with the Woodland Park Rock, Gem and Jewelry Show special event 

Temporary Use Permit subject to the following conditions: 

1. Camping shall occur only between 9 AM August 11 through 9 PM August 18, 2025. 
2. Camping shall be for event volunteers and vendors only with no more than 45 

camping units permitted on-site at any given time. 
3. Camping units shall include tents, camper trailers, recreational vehicles and pickup 

campers. 

City Council Meeting – July 17, 2025 
 

Agenda Item Department Presenter 

10 A. Planning 
Grant Ahtye 

Permit Technician 

City of Woodland Park 

Staff Report  

Page 55 of 60



4. Camping units shall not be connected to City water or sewer and shall be self-
contained. 

5. On and off-site trash, garbage or debris shall be cleaned up during and upon cessation 
of camping.  On-site clean-up shall be coordinated with and enforced by the property 
owner and event coordinator.   

6. The event coordinator shall be responsive to complaints received, if any. 
7. All lighting for the camping and event areas, if any, shall be downcast, fully shielded, 

and turned off by 9 PM each night. 
8. All generators (if any) shall be turned off by 10 PM. 
9. The event coordinator and all campers shall at all times be subject to Municipal Code 

§9.41 Noise. 
10. At no time shall campers, vendors, event volunteers or guests/participants obstruct 

access to the City of Woodland Park lift station.  
 

Attachment: Site Plan 

Page 56 of 60



Aerial Photo 

 

Page 57 of 60



Page 58 of 60



 

City Council 
Agenda Item 10.B. 

July 17, 2025 

    
STAFF REPORT  

    
TO: Mayor Case and City Council 
    
FROM: Karen Schminke, Director of Planning & Building Services  
    
DATE: July 17, 2025 
    
SUBJECT: Approve Resolution No. 932 a Resolution Establishing Expedited Review Policies for 

Future Affordable Housing Projects. (Presenter Budget Director / Kimberly Burleson) 
     
  
BACKGROUND:  Establishing Expedited Review Policies for Future Affordable Housing Projects 
  
RECOMMENDATION:  Approve Resolution No. 932 
   
ATTACHMENTS: 1. Expedited Review WP Resolution 2025 
 

Page 59 of 60



CITY OF WOODLAND PARK
RESOLUTION NO. 932, Series 2025

A RESOLUTION ESTABLISHING EXPEDITED REVIEW POLICIES 
FOR FUTURE AFFORDABLE HOUSING PROJECTS

WHEREAS, the voters of Colorado approved Proposition 123 in 2022 creating the State 
Affordable Housing Fund to make certain funds available to local governments as defined by CRS-
29-32-104; and

WHEREAS, the City of Woodland Park, Colorado is a home rule municipality duly and 
regularly organized and validly existing as a body corporate and politic under and by virtue of the 
Constitution and laws of the State of Colorado and is eligible for Proposition 123 funding and 
programing; and

WHEREAS, the City of Woodland Park recognizes the importance of allowing affordable 
and attainable housing to be developed for its workforce and its residents; and

WHEREAS, the City of Woodland Park has set a baseline and commitment to increase 
affordable housing as defined in Proposition 123; and

WHEREAS, the City of Woodland Park’s current process for reviewing proposed housing 
projects is typically completed within 120 days per application; and

WHEREAS, the City of Woodland Park of also creates a policy for expedited review to ensure 
that affordable housing projects are always reviewed and a decision rendered within 90 days of a 
complete application.

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the City Council of the City of Woodland Park, 
Colorado, creates the following policy for the use of Proposition 123 Funding:

Section 1.  The City Council authorizes to assist with policy implementation and applying 
for future funding on behalf of the City of Woodland Park for the development of affordable housing 
as defined by CRS-29-32-104.

Section 2.  The City Council establishes a formal policy that any complete application 
received by the City of Woodland Park for an affordable housing development will be placed on the 
next available agenda once proper public notice has been posted and a decision rendered on the 
application within 90 days to ensure an expedited and timely review of the affordable housing 
project.

ADOPTED THIS DAY OF , 2025.

ATTEST:

Suzanne Leclercq, City Clerk Kellie Case, Mayor

Page 60 of 60


	1. CALL TO ORDER AND ROLL CALL
	2. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE
	3. CEREMONIES, PRESENTATIONS AND APPOINTMENTS
	A. Acknowledgment and Appreciation of Team Rubicon fo
	B. Appointments to the Utility Advisory Committee. (A
	Staff Report

	C. Appointment to the Downtown Development Authority.
	Staff Report

	D. Proclamation declaring July as Parks and Recreatio
	PROCLAMATION.JULY AS PARKS AND RECREATION MONTH 7.17.25


	4. ADDITIONS, DELETIONS OR CORRECTIONS TO AGENDA
	5. CONSENT CALENDAR
	A. Review and Acceptance of the Statement of Expendit
	Statement of Expenditures-June 2025

	B. Approval of the June 19, 2025 Regularly Scheduled 
	June 19, 2025 Council Minutes


	6. PUBLIC COMMENT ON ITEMS NOT ON THE AGENDA  (1)
	7. UNFINISHED BUSINESS
	8. ORDINANCES ON INITIAL POSTING
	9. PUBLIC HEARINGS
	A. Approval of Ordinance No. 1498, Series 2025, an Or
	Staff Report
	Ordinance 1498, Series 2025 CORE Tower Replacement SUP
	CORE Communications Cell Tower SUP CC Staff Report
	2025.06.12 PC Meeting Minutes - DRAFT


	10. NEW BUSINESS
	A. Approve a Rock, Gem & Jewelry Show Temporary Use P
	Staff Report
	CC SR Rock Gem Camping 2025
	CC SR Rock Gem Camping 2025 - Site Plan

	B. Approve Resolution No. 932 a Resolution Establishi
	Staff Report
	Expedited Review WP Resolution 2025


	11. REPORTS
	A. Mayor’s Report
	B. Council Reports
	C. City Attorney’s Report
	D. City Manager’s Report

	12. ADJOURNMENT



